

# UNIVERSITY OF BERGEN Faculty of Social Sciences

**Department of Comparative Politics** 

Sampol 350: Master Thesis

June 2014

Globalisation and the Welfare State – A Meta-Regression Analysis

By Per Kristian Roko Kallager

#### Abstract

The effect of economic globalisation on the welfare state is a widely polarised debate in the scholarly literature. In essence, there are three possible effects of this relationship: economic globalisation increases welfare, decreases welfare or it has no effect. By applying meta-regression analysis to 33 empirical studies, this thesis concludes that globalization have a positive effect on the welfare state, although it is quite small. Moreover, the thesis finds that publication bias is not a problem in this literature. Finally, the findings of the thesis suggest that there is large heterogeneity between studies, and that this heterogeneity can account for much of the variations of the differences between studies.

# Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Tor Midtbø for being enthusiastic about the project from the start. He has also provided valuable and firm feedback throughout the semesters while writing.

Secondly, the boys in St.Hansstredet 24, Eivind and Terje deserves a thanks for providing a nice and relaxed atmosphere in our home during this year.

Finally, my parents deserve a special thanks for proof reading the thesis and for moral and financial support throughout my years a student in Bergen.

Per Kristian Roko Kallager

Bergen, June 2014

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	v
Introduction	1
Organisation of the Thesis	3
Chapter One: Conceptualising the Welfare State and Economic Globalisation	5
Chapter Two: Efficiency, Compensation or No Effect? - A Review of the Literature	7
Linking Globalisation and the Welfare State.	7
The Efficiency Hypothesis	8
The Compensation Hypothesis	10
The Sceptics	11
Heterogeneity	13
Summary of Previous Studies on the Field	18
Chapter Three: Method	20
Meta-analysis Versus "Traditional" Literary Reviews	20
Conducting the Meta-Analysis and Meta-Regression Analysis (MRA)	22
Searching the Literature and Coding of Studies.	23
The Dependent Variables	26
Selection of Moderator (Meta-Independent) Variables	28
Turning to Meta-regression Analysis. (MRA)	28
Publication Bias	29
Statistical Tests for Publication Bias and How to Correct it.	34
Modelling Heterogeneity	36
General-to-specific Modelling of the MRA.	38
Chapter Four: Data and the Meta-Data Set.	41
Moderator Variables	45
Data Set	49
Missing Data	49

Chapter Five: Analysis	51
The Classical Meta-analysis	51
Graphical Inspections	
Funnel Plot	53
FAT-PET-MRA Analysis	55
Multiple Meta Regression Analysis	57
Robustness	62
Interpretation of the Explanatory Power of the MRA, R <sup>2</sup>	63
Chapter Six: The "Statistical" Significance of the MRA	65
Chapter Seven: The "Practical" Significance of the MRA	76
Some Concluding Remarks	80
References	82
Appendix	

# List of Tables

Table 1: Papers on globalisations effect on the welfare state included in the meta-analysis.	References,
numbers of estimates and descriptive statistics	41
Table 2: Meta-regression variables definitions: Welfare States and Globalisation Studies	45
Table 3: Classical Meta-Analysis	52
Table 4: FAT-PET-MRA	55
Table 5: Multiple MRA	59
Table 6: Multiple MRA Robustness	60
Table 7: Research Questions, Hypotheses and Outcome.	72

# List of Figures

Figure 1: No publication bias	32
Figure 2: Publication bias	33
Figure 3: Distribution of the partial correlation	52
Figure 4: Funnel plot of globalisation-welfare state partial correlations (n=417)	53

#### Introduction

The effect of economic globalisation on the welfare state is a widely covered topic in the scholarly literature (Genschel 2004, Koster 2009, Schulze and Ursprung 1999, Ursprung 2008). Following the expansion of globalisation, three distinct hypotheses in the welfare state globalisation nexus can be derived, and the hypothesis suggests very different outcomes. The first hypothesis argues that globalisation reduces welfare efforts (Burgoon 2001, Kaufman and Segura-Ubiergo 2001, Swank 2002), the second that the welfare state expands (Garrett 1998, Rodrik 1998, Katzenstein 1985, Avelino, et al. 2005), and the third that other forces rather than globalisation affect the welfare state (Iversen and Cusack 2000, Pierson 1994). Although many studies have been conducted on the effect of globalisation on the welfare state the literature produces inconclusive and mixed results. Genschel (2004:631) notes that "a lot of quantitative and qualitative research has been spent on this question. The results, however, have remained inconclusive". Gemmell, et al. (2008:156) further argue that "the overall conclusion must be that the evidence is ambiguous. Studies supporting the efficiency hypothesis are broadly balanced by a similar number of studies favouring the efficiency hypothesis". Some previous qualitative literary reviews (cf. Schulze and Ursprung: 1999 and Koster: 2012) have been conducted, but these reviews have also remained inconclusive. The common denominator however, is that globalisation per se has not resulted in a dramatic 'race to the bottom' in terms of welfare spending.

Given the inconclusive results of previous studies, which form the main motivation for this thesis, a meta-analysis, and more specially, a meta-regression analysis is applied to investigate the impact of economic globalisation on the welfare state. The meta-regression approach is very suitable for reviewing an inconclusive literature.

Methodologically, the thesis contributes to the growing field of the application of metaregression analysis in political science. Although meta-analysis in political science is a relatively new method in the field, a growing numbers of meta-regression analysis, for example on democracy and economic growth (Doucouliagos and Ulubasoglu 2008a), aid and democracy (Askarov and Doucouliagos 2013), institutions and economic performance (Efendic, et al. 2011) and economic voting (Ludvigsen 2010) have been conducted. Moreover, the thesis explores a debated topic in international political economy and comparative politics that has not been subjected to a meta-analysis before. The thesis aims to answer the following research questions with the corresponding hypotheses:

#### *Q1:* What is the effect of globalisation on the welfare state?

By investigating a wide variety of studies, a meta-analysis can be used to find the effect of globalisation on the welfare state. Although the preliminary step in a meta-analysis is to reveal an effect, the method can offer much more, which is reflected in the two following research questions.

#### Q2: Is publication bias present, and does it affect the literature?

A central topic when conducting a meta-analysis is to investigate whether publication bias is present, i.e. if editors, reviewers and authors treat significant results as more important than non-significant results, hence producing a biased literature. Publication bias is often found in research areas with a high degree of agreement. Therefore, challenging the conventional wisdom and reporting "results that are at odds with dominant theory will find it harder to be believed and hence to get published" (Doucouliagos and Stanley 2013:317). It might be possible that publication bias does not exist in the globalisation-welfare state literature , since articles and books supporting all sides of the discussion are present, and thus not favouring one side over the other which in turn suggest that all the results are theoretically possible and acceptable (Doucouliagos and Stanley 2013:318). Therefore, scholars and journals might not have any incentives to support only one side of the debate. However, testing for publication bias should always be done in the context of a meta-analysis since this is an available option, which also is possible to correct if found.

#### Q3: Are there systematically differences between the published studies?

Since a meta-analysis can serve as a special case of a multiple regression analysis, a third central topic is to investigate whether systematically differences between the studies can explain the variety of outcomes. Although some studies rely on the same data, different authors reach different conclusions. A meta-analysis can explain how different study

characteristics influence the results. This is done through a meta-regression analysis, where potentially important dependent variables (called moderator variables in a meta-analysis) are regressed on the effect size (the independent variable in a meta-analysis).

In answering these questions, a meta-analysis is applied to summarise the effect, to investigate differences between studies and to detect if publication bias is present.

#### **Organisation of the Thesis**

The thesis is organised in seven chapters. First a brief discussion of the concepts used in the literature is presented. The concepts are "economic globalisation" and the "welfare state". Then a review of the relevant literature follows. In essence, there are three distinct hypothesis about globalisations effect on the welfare state; one hypothesis suggest that welfare is reduced, the second that welfare is expanded, and the third that globalisation has no effect on welfare spending. In order to explain the large variation in the presented research in chapter 2, a meta-regression analysis is conducted to answer the research questions. The third chapter presents the chosen method meta-regression analysis (hereafter MRA). The chapter gives a justification to why the method is chosen, and presents the advantages of applying the method when reviewing an ambiguous and inconclusive literature. The chapter also lays out the steps that are necessary in order to fully conduct a meta-analysis from a graphical inspection of a funnel plot, to a simple bivariate analysis for publication bias (FAT-PET-MRA) and then, to a more rigorous multiple MRA. In the Fourth chapter, the data and variables used in the metaanalysis are presented and described. In order to do a meta-analysis a meta-dataset must be created. This dataset is essentially a collection of regression estimates from studies that fulfil some eligibility criteria. The chapter includes descriptive statistics of the dependent and independent variables, and a presentation of different measures of the effect size. In a MRA the effect size is the independent variable while moderator variables act as the dependent variables. These variables are either collected from the sample of studies, or justified as theoretically important based on previous studies and the literary review in chapter 2. The fifth chapter consists of the analysis of the data presented in chapter 4. The MRA is conducted. The first step in this process is to visually test for the presence of publication bias through a funnel plot. Further the FAT-PET-MRA follows in order to detect potential publication bias and a genuine empirical effect statistically. In order to explain the large heterogeneity in the studies on globalisations effect on the welfare state, a moderator analysis, or MRA is conducted. Several models are reported in order to ensure robustness. The sixth chapter is a discussion of the results found in analysis. The seventh and final chapter is the conclusion which summarises the thesis and a discussion of the practical effects of the findings. In addition some suggestions for further research are presented.

#### Chapter One: Conceptualising the Welfare State and Economic Globalisation

First of all, a brief discussion of the key concepts used in the literature is useful to address "what the participants in the debate mean when they refer to globalisation or the welfare state" (Genschel 2004:616). These two concepts are the "welfare state" and "globalisation".

Genschel (2004:616) argues that the conceptualisation of globalisation and welfare is almost uniform across studies. Therefore a larger question in the literature in general is how the welfare state and globalisation should be measured. These questions have raised a serious discussion on 'the dependent variable problem' regarding the welfare state, but also an 'independent variable problem' in terms of globalisation.

The welfare state is a widely covered topic in the scholarly literature, see for example Pierson and Castles (2006) and, Castles and Leibfried (2010). Schulze and Ursprung (1999:337) suggest that the normative *raison d'être* for the welfare state are "the provisions of public goods and income redistribution, whereby the latter may be based on social insurance arguments or on altruism.

According to Green-Pedersen (2004:5-6), the welfare state definition can be divided into policy definitions and outcome definitions. Policy definitions entail those benefits provided by the state (e.g. unemployment, health benefits, and child care) while outcome definitions can be linked to certain outcomes. In the globalisation-welfare state debate, and this thesis, emphasis is put on the former.

Any study of the welfare state cannot avoid the influential typologies of the welfare state by Esping-Andersen (1990). In his work, Esping-Andersen argues that there are three different worlds of welfare. The worlds are characterised by the levels of decommodification<sup>1</sup> and social transfers<sup>2</sup>. This welfare classification can be said to be related to the outcome definition of the welfare state since different actors (the left and labour unions) are linked to the outcomes of the welfare state. For example, scandinavian welfare states are characterised by high levels of decommodification, in this world, the left has traditionally enjoyed political power over a long period of time. On the other hand, liberal welfare states, e.g. the US, are characterised by means testing and modest social transfers predominates, where especially left party power and labour unions have been less dominant (see Esping-Andersen 1990: 9-33)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defined by Esping-Andersen (1990:23) as when "citizens can freely, and without potential loss of job, income, or general welfare, opt out of work when they themselves consider it necessary"

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  For the operationalization and scores for the decommodification index, see Esping-Andersen (1990) chapters 2-4

#### The Concept of Globalisation

Globalisation in relation to the welfare state should be understood as economic globalisation although some authors have taken other globalisation variables into account. Broadly, economic globalisation (hereafter globalisation) can be defined as:

Increasing goods and factor market integration, whereby a completely integrated market is characterised by the absence of any impediments in international mobility of commodities, services and the production factors capital, labour and technology. Globalisation can thus be defined as a reduction in international arbitrage costs (Schulze and Ursprung 1999:301).

For more thorough reviews, consult either Schulze and Ursprung (1999) or Glyn (2006) that comprehensively discuss the concept of globalisation. There is no disagreement that globalisation is finding place (Garrett 2000, Therborn 2000) however, the causes of globalisations are disputed, as discussed more in length by Garrett (2000). Jahn (2006) argues that globalisation suffer from a "Galton Problem" i.e. that "one source of confusion about the impact of globalisation on domestic policy is the inappropriate analytical and methodological treatment of international interaction." (Jahn 2006:402). Jahn therefore suggests that the concept of globalisation should be understood as diffusion.

With the policy definition of the welfare state in mind, the next chapter presents a wide variety of studies investigating the effect of globalisation on welfare spending and its effect.

#### Chapter Two: Efficiency, Compensation or No Effect? - A Review of the Literature

This chapter presents the literary review of the thesis. Since the chosen method for the thesis is a meta-regression analysis, it is essential to provide an overview of the relevant scholarly literature and the corresponding ambiguous hypotheses

First, a brief presentation of some seminal works exploring the welfare state-globalisation relationship is presented. Then a presentation of the three welfare state-globalisation hypotheses follows – the efficiency hypothesis, the compensation hypothesis and the sceptic hypothesis. Finally, some aspects that might explain the inconclusiveness of the field, i.e. heterogeneity between studies, are discussed.

## Linking Globalisation and the Welfare State

A natural point of departure would be the seminal works of Cameron (1978) and Katzenstein (1985). These two studies suggest that economic openness leads to corporatism and an expansion of the welfare state, thus being the forerunners of the compensation hypothesis specially, and the debate about globalisations effect on the welfare state generally.

Providing a detailed analysis of small states in a global economy Katzenstein (1985:47) argues that "the small European states compliment their pursuit of liberalism in the international economy with a strategy of domestic compensation". Thus Katzenstein(1985) suggests that small, open economies are able to couple a generous welfare state with the growing risks created by globalisation. Cameron (1978) also finds supporting evidence for larger government spending in open economies in his study of 18 OECD countries and states that 'Nations with open economies were far more likely to experience an increase in the scope of public funding than were nations with relatively closed economies' (Cameron 1978:1253).

Following a "positive" view on the welfare state in the global economy, a new school of thought emerged. This school argues that the "welfare state is in crisis" (Huber and Stephens 2001) and that there is a "race to the bottom" in welfare spending mainly due to restructuring in welfare states. Even the most generous social democratic welfare states experienced cutbacks (Pierson 2001b: 441-444). These rearrangements are in the works of Paul Pierson (1994, 2001a,b) labelled retrenchment, which refers to "policy changes that either cut social

expenditures, restructure welfare state programs...or alter the political environment in ways that enhance the probability of such outcomes in the future" (Pierson 1994:17)

In recent years several authors (Kittel and Winner 2005, Plumper, et al. 2005, Podesta 2006) have called for the application of statistically better models in the investigation of the welfare-globalisation nexus, and provides guidance and suggestions when modelling regressions. These methodological "remedies" often find no significant relationship between globalisation and the welfare state, and rather suggest that domestic factors plays and important role for the welfare state. Following the seminal works of these authors, the field has grown large over the years, and numerous articles and books have been published.

In essence there are three hypotheses about the effect of globalization on the welfare state. Based on the literature, these three hypotheses can be identified as the efficiency hypothesis, the compensation hypothesis and the sceptic hypothesis. The first suggests that welfare is reduced, the second that welfare is increased, and the third that there are no connection between globalisation and the welfare state<sup>3</sup>.

#### The Efficiency Hypothesis

The efficiency hypothesis (neoliberal, globalisation theory) in its simplest form suggests that globalisation creates a "race to the bottom" in terms of welfare spending. In other words, the welfare state is reduced. The efficiency hypothesis focus on "the economic cost of large and progressive public economies" (Garrett and Mitchell 2001:151), and can be linked to the supply side of the nexus. Several authors have different suggestions to why this "race to the bottom" finds place. Casually, the argument is based on a proposal that global economic integration limit governments' ability to commit to redistributive macroeconomic policies in order to attract investments and facilitate for business interests<sup>4</sup>, thus lowering the tax base that could be used on welfare, and in turn making international competitiveness and efficiency the primary goal. These restrictions are grounded in several mechanisms that put pressure on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Other explanations included in this section are that there exists a curve-linear relationship between globalisation and the welfare state, and various non-significant effects.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This is essentially the structural dependence of the state on capital hypothesis. See Przeworski and Wallerstein (1988) for a critical review.

states and governments in order to create an efficient environment for capital, most of these restrictions are grounded in the interplay between taxation and welfare policies. <sup>5</sup>

First, one line of argument suggests that in order to avoid high domestic taxes, capital can shift their assets to low tax countries, hence an "exit becomes a viable option and a credible implicit threat" (Genschel 2004:623, see also Steinmo 1994). This exit option can ,according to Swank (2002:24), be used by business " as leverage in legislative, centralized bargaining, and executive branch policy-making forums, enhancing the conventional political resources that are commonly brought to bear in efforts to shape policy". Further, Huber and Stephens (2001:224) suggest that capital in general has strong leverage over governments and labour unions.

Another facet of globalisation is growing tax competition among governments. Bretschger and Hettich (2002:714) "find that national governments lower corporate taxes as a consequence of increased globalisation". Ha and Tsebelis (2010:7) suggest that since international capital and companies are a part of the tax base, "governments that maintain existing levels of social protection have to risk consistent tax revenue reductions. In order to keep these footloose international investments, states have to reduce taxes on corporations". This in turn will therefore result in tax revenue reduction.

The reduction of tax burdens are also of crucial importance for the business-friendly government. Swank (2002:28) suggest that governments are facing a pressure to "reduce tax burdens on domestic producers in order to lower labour costs and to enhance the price competitiveness of exports" in order to attract international investors. Thus, by reducing taxes, governments will have to pay the price of a lower tax base at the expense of lower redistributive welfare spending.

Garrett and Mitchell (2001:174) suggest that "greater exposure to trade results in lower government spending" <sup>6</sup> in their analysis of OECD countries between 1961-1993. Burgoon (2001) also demonstrate through his time-series analysis of 18 OECD countries in the period from 1980 to1995 that general trade openness has a negative effect on the welfare state. Focusing on Latin America, in their time-series analysis of 14 countries from 1973 to 1997, Kaufman and Segura-Ubiergo (2001) provides evidence that "trade integration has a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There is a large literature on the effect of globalisation on capital taxation. See Adams et. al, (2013) for a review. Although taxation is important for understanding the welfare state, the focus in this thesis is on the effect on the welfare state, not on taxation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Although they find evidence for both the efficiency and compensation hypothesis.

consistently negative effect on aggregate social spending" (Kaufman and Segura-Ubiergo 2001:554). This is also the most robust and strongest finding in their study.

Therefore, the efficiency hypothesis can be argued to capture the supply side of the nexus, i.e. how governments have to meet the terms of business in order to attract investments and stay competitive in the international market.

#### The Compensation Hypothesis

The compensation hypothesis, on the other hand, argues that globalisation has a "positive" effect on welfare spending, i.e. welfare spending increases, and relates to the demand side of the nexus. This demand is created as a direct consequence of globalisation.

Given that there are losers suffering the consequences of globalisation, according to Ursprung (2008:2) the "workers who become exposed to higher labour market risks", a demand is created by citizens to increase welfare benefits. According to Rodrik (1998:998) "Societies seem to demand (and receive) an expanded government role as the price for accepting larger doses of external risk. In other words, government spending appears to provide social insurance in economies subject to external shocks". The risks at work in this regard are "increased economic volatility or induced structural adjustments to the economy...that might trigger economic insecurity and job losses" (Schaffer and Spilker 2009:5) which in turn creates a demand for a cushion, the welfare state.

Furthermore, the compensation hypothesis takes a more partisan point of departure than the efficiency hypothesis. Since (especially) leftist parties tend to be more committed to redistribution (Iversen and Soskice 2009; Huber and Stephens 2001) the compensation hypothesis also takes political incentives to expand welfare into account. Garrett (1998:11) also suggests that "globalisation has increased the political incentives for left-wing parties to pursue economic policies that redistribute wealth and risk in favour of those adversely affected in the short term of market dislocations"

Garrett and Mitchell (2001:151) also suggest that there are "clear political incentives to expand welfare effort in response to internationalisation due to increasing inequality and increasing economic insecurity". In the forefront of this school, the contributions of Geoffrey

Garrett should be noted. In his work on partisan politics and the global economy, Garrett (1998, 2001) suggest that when globalisation is met by strong left-labour powers, governments will contribute to an expansion of welfare expenditures. Rodrik (1998) investigates the relationship between governments and globalisation, and find that governments play an important risk reducing role when met by globalisation in his crosssectional study of 68 countries. Ha (2008), in her study of 18 OECD countries 1960-2000 also find evidence in support for the compensation hypothesis. Gemmell, et al. (2008) also find some supporting evidence of compensation in their time-series analysis of 25 OECD countries from 1980-1997, where FDI have a significant effect, and shift spending upwards. Avelino, et al. (2005) find a significant relationship between trade openness and social spending in their study of 19 Latin American countries in the period from 1980 to 1999<sup>7</sup>.

# **The Sceptics**

A third school of thought claims that other factors rather than globalisation are significant for the expansion or retrenchment of welfare states. This school operates mainly in the domain of the retrenchment literature. Although, empirically, it seems to be a relationship between the growth of globalisation and welfare state retrenchment, the sceptics are questioning this relationship. They rather suggest that socioeconomic changes occurring within countries are the driving force of welfare retrenchment. Furthermore, researchers in this field tend to find statistically insignificant result of globalisation when these socioeconomic factors are controlled for.

Although the period studied can be argued to be the era of globalisation, other changes within both countries and policy-making have resulted in pressure on welfare delivery according to this school of thought. Further, more generally, some authors argue that globalisation does not have an effect at all, given that globalisation indicators do not have a statistically significant effect on welfare spending. (e.g. Iversen and Cusack 2000). The reason for accusing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A growing field in the literature argues that there exists a curve-linear relationship between the welfare state and globalisation. The curve linear relationship suggests a merging of the two conflicting hypotheses presented above. This implies that up to a certain point, globalisation will affect the welfare state positively, then, at some stage, globalisation will have a negative effect. The curve-linear effect is argued to find place" because of the need to make it politically feasible to expose the economy to international trade and capital". (Brady, et al. 2005:924). This will, however, not be tested for.

globalisation for welfare retrenchment is in Genschel's (2004:627) words that "increases in cross-border economic activity are easier to observe than obscure changes in technology and social consumption"

The findings from Dreher, et al. (2008) suggests that globalisation does "not influence the composition of government expenditures in a notable way" (Dreher, et al. 2008:263). By using two different datasets and employing the KOF index of globalisation they reach the conclusion that welfare states have not been seriously affected by globalisation.

In his qualitative work on welfare retrenchment Pierson (2001a,b) argues that among other factors, changes in household structures, and the ageing of the population puts downward pressure on mature welfare states. Pierson argues that "changes in the global economy are important, but it is primarily social and economic transformations occurring within affluent democracies that produce pressure on mature welfare states" (Pierson 2001b:410). Such transformations might include changes in the employment sector, i.e. deindustrialisation,( Iversen and Cusack 2000) and changes in demography occurring within states,

Iversen and Cusack (2000) argue that deindustrialisation rather than globalisation plays an important role in welfare state expansion in their study of 15 OECD countries from 1961 to 1993. Iversen and Cusack suggest that risks generated in societies results from "the interaction of sector-specific skills and domestic economic processes". Furthermore, a driving force behind [welfare] expansion is "the labour market dislocations associated with major shifts in the sectoral-occupational structure" (Iversen and Cusack 2000:324). Moreover, they do not find any statistically significant effects of globalisation on government transfers in their study.

By reassessing the statistical approaches of Garrett and Mitchell (2001), Kittel and Winner (2005) shows that the underlying statistical justifications and thus the results are driven by mis-specifications. Kittel and Winner's (2005:287) study thus conclude that "neither globalisation, nor the partisan composition of governments play a role in explaining...the dynamics of government expenditures". They rather suggest, supporting the findings of Iversen and Cusack (2000), that domestic changes influence expenditures.

#### Heterogeneity

As this literary review has shown, there is a wide variety of possible explanations that are both theoretically and empirically possible. Hence the result is that the literature contains a large degree of heterogeneity that can affect the empirical findings. For example Genschel 2004(632) notes that some reasons for the differences in outcomes can be explained by "the sample of countries, time period, operationalisation of the variables, model specifications and controls". In order to explain this heterogeneity, the following characteristics listed below can be considered as theoretically important in explaining the differences between studies. Additionally, these features are taken into account as the independent variables in the MRA.

#### Measure of welfare state

In the literature, there are several ways to operationalise the welfare state. In essence there are three common approaches to measure the welfare state utilised in the literature: Total government social expenditures in terms of GDP (OECD 2012), an updated data set based on Esping-Andersen's work on the three worlds of welfare, The Comparative Welfare State Entitlement Data Set (Scruggs, et al. 2014), and expenditure categories (school, health, pension etc.) related to welfare in terms of GDP (OECD 2012). There are theoretically good arguments for each of the measures.

Obinger and Wagschal (2010:334) argue that "social expenditure is...an important aspect of the dependent variable in comparative social policy research". First, they argue that social expenditures are easily available, secondly, the data contains observations over a long period of time, and thirdly, by including "private and after-tax spending now provides important insight into what "welfare states do" (Obinger and Wagschal 2010:352). However, it is argued that although some states have relatively high welfare state expenditures, the structure of the spending and the "welfare delivery" might be very different from country to country. Korpi (1989:310) points out that the widespread use of expenditures are "largely data driven, and that expenditures only indirect bearing on what is the core of the modem welfare state"

Welfare expenditures are also sensitive to business cycles (Ha 2008, Huber and Stephens 2001). Further, Scruggs and Allan (2006:56) argue that "conceptually, spending does not provide a sufficient indication of the welfare state's effects on individual life chances.

The second approach is the CWEDS (Scruggs, et al. 2014) which is a replication and further development of the work of Esping-Andersen (1990) who's main argument is that "it is difficult to imagine that anyone struggled for spending *per se* (Esping-Andersen 1990:21). Thus, the dataset have the structure of the welfare state as its point of departure. Among others, Brady et al, and Jensen et al, includes the CWEDS in their analyses. The main theoretical reason for including the CWEDS compared to welfare spending in terms of GDP are in Allan and Scruggs (2004:498) words that" such data cannot tell us very much about how, or on whom, the money is spent<sup>8</sup>".

The final approach relates to a disaggregation of different expenditure categories related to welfare expenditures, for example dividing the "welfare state" into health spending, pension spending etc.). Schulze and Ursprung (1999:347) have pointed out that some of the differences between studies might be due to "a lack of studies using strongly disaggregated public expenditure data". Ursprung (2008:3) have suggested that this approach is a better measure in order to better explain the scope and size of government expenditures. Rudra and Haggard (2005:1023) rely on this approach because it provides "additional information on the redistributive nature of spending". Avelino, et al. (2005:628) further suggest that pressure groups, for example teachers unions, can have a great impact on social policies, making this a substantial argument, and thus disaggregating welfare spending in different categories.

These approaches have resulted in a debate labelled the "dependent variable problem". Although there is a large consensus of the meaning of the concepts in the literature, a "dependent variable problem"<sup>9</sup> can be identified, i.e. "a noticeable absence of reflection on how to conceptualise, operationalise and measure change within welfare states" (Clasen and Siegel 2007b:4). This problem refers to how the welfare state should be measured and further conceptualised.

As this section has shown, there are three common approaches to operationalise the welfare state: total social expenditures of GDP, the CWEDS, and disaggregation of social expenditures. It certainly is reflection about the different measures in the scholarly literature; however, there seems to be no agreement on which measure that is considered to be the "best". Therefore, it is suspected, that the choice of the dependent variable in primary studies will be of importance for the results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also Esping-Andersen (1990: 18-21) and Korpi and Palme (2003:432-433)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Clasen and Siegel (2007a) particularly deal with the problem in their book subtitled 'The 'Dependent Variable Problem' in Comparative Analysis'. Pierson (2001b:419-422) also address the issue.

#### **Measure of Globalisation**

As with the welfare state, globalisation is also subjected to different approaches. Jahn (2006:402) suggests that there are several "established variables with respect to economic globalisation: trade openness, Foreign Direct Investments (FDI), interest rate differentials, portfolio investment outflows, or an index of financial openness." Other scholars state that an index of globalisation<sup>10</sup> better capture the concept. Gemmell, et al. (2008:156) note that "the use of a variety of measures reflects the difficulty finding suitable proxies for 'economic globalisation' or integration".

The KOF index of globalisation developed by Dreher (2006b:1093) provides an innovative measure of globalisation. The index is divided in sub-indexes, where economic globalisation account as one index containing actual flows and restrictions. Actual flows contain variables for FDI and portfolio investments, income payments to foreign nationals and capital employed. While restrictions are covered by variables measuring hidden import barriers, mean tariff rates, taxes on international trade and capital control. Dreher (2006b:1092) argues that "the overall effects of globalisation are what matters" and that an index will better capture the whole picture. Further, Dreher (2006b:1092) suggests that the problems of collinearity when separating globalisation measures are reduced, and since the direction of different globalisation variables might have different effects, a bias in the literature can occur if variables that are not of interest among researchers are left out. For example by excluding FDI from an analysis.

In their assessment of common pitfalls in the use of panel analysis in the welfare globalisation research, Kittel and Winner (2005:270) notes that "little effort is made to develop a concise theory as to why specific variables are entered into a regression and how they relate to each other". This problem is often present in the conceptualisation of globalisation, since scholars suggest using a widespread range of variables measuring globalisation.

Some authors argue that two globalisation variables are sufficient, while others (Ha 2008) have suggested that since globalisation is a multifaceted phenomenon, several variables are of importance. Some authors rely on variables that are typically associated with globalisation, for example trade, outward and inward FDI, capital mobility. Others have suggested that the KOF index of globalisation is a better measure to capture globalisation and insist on using the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The most used index in this respect is the KOF index of globalisation.

index. The choice of the independent variables for globalisation can also be a culprit for heterogeneity between studies.

## Left

A line of authors (Garrett 1998, Huber, et al. 1993, Huber and Stephens 2001) suggests that left party power can influence the degree of redistribution, and could also be linked to the structure of the welfare state (especially social democratic welfare states, Esping-Andersen 1990). Therefore, this partisan approach suggests that left power is a necessary condition for expanding welfare in general, and that left-labour power is one of the largest determinants of increased welfare spending in the era of globalisation (Garrett 1998). Furthermore, Huber and Stephens (2001:35) suggest that "the long term pattern of partisan governance is the single most important determinant of social policy differences across countries". Therefore, left party power can be considered as an important contributor to the welfare state and is important to include in primary studies.

#### **Primary focus**

The focus of the thesis is globalisations effect on the welfare state. Some of the studies included have included other dependent variables than just a measure of the welfare state. Therefore the primary focus of a study can be considered as a difference. Some of the studies have globalisation's effect on the welfare state as their point of departure, while other studies have taken other effects into account (e.g. tax competition, democracy etc.) and include a globalisation welfare-state regression as a part of its sensitivity analysis. Notice for instance the difference between Bretschger and Hettich (2002) Brady and Lee (2014), and Avelino, et al. (2005), where the latter is an example of a primary focus study, whereas the former are not-primary focus study.

#### Countries

Country focus might also be of importance. Most of the research presented focus on OECD countries. Some studies, however, have investigates other regions such as Latin-America.

Avelino, et al. (2005:627) suggest that when studying Latin American countries<sup>11</sup> some other factors also must be taken into account: Since many of the countries have been authoritarian, democracy must be taken into account. Furthermore, labour unions in these countries are weaker vis-à-vis those in the OECD in addition to an absence of long standing social democratic partisanship compared to some of the OECD countries.

## Political scientist or economist<sup>12</sup>

Given the scope of the field, the relationship between globalisation and the welfare state engages political scientists, economists, and also sociologists and other scholars (Øverbye 2010) since the area can be regarded as influential for politics, the economy and social structures.

Adam et al (2013:208) suggests that there is a discipline bias between political scientists and economist. Political scientists tend to favour the importance of the political procedures, whereas economists tend to favour explanations based on market driving forces. Therefore authors from different disciplines can produce different results on the outcome, due to scholarly focus and theoretical considerations.

# Time

Kittel and Winner (2005:284) Suggest that time both in regard to when the study is published and in finding support for one of the hypothesis is of importance. Goldfarb (1995) further suggest that there is a tendency for an expected pattern in empirical research. First, a new theory or hypothesis is confirmed, and then further research "confirms" this theory or hypothesis. At some stage however, contradictions emerge, and a rejection of the theory or hypothesis emerges. Since globalisation is a phenomenon that develops over time, the impact of globalisation can be argued to have different influence in different time periods. Therefore, time can be considered as an important explanatory variable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> These suggestions might also apply for other countries as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In their review of the socio-economics for economic research Stanley, et al. (2008) suggest that differences in authors socio-economic status are important. For example gender, nationality, funding etc. can influence the result. In the globalisation-welfare state research these factors are not of great importance. Therefore, the political versus economist argument is included instead.

#### Type of estimation technique

More technically, the estimation techniques used in the studies can also be of importance. Most of the studies presented rely on time-series-panel data analysis. However, some of the studies rely on cross-sectional analysis. The cross-sectional studies are basically the older studies, i.e. those published before 2000. This is mainly due to data limitation at the time published. On the other hand, all the studies published after 2000 use time-series-panel data (although some of the more recent studies includes as combination of both, for example Busemeyer 2009)

In political science it is a debate on whether to include models with fixed effects and a lagged dependent variable<sup>13</sup>. In the globalisation-welfare state specially, this debate has also been pronounced. By reassessing the study by Garrett and Mitchell (2001), Kittel and Winner (2005) suggest that implementing the "de facto Beck and Katz standard" (cf. Plumper, et al. 2005), will estimate misleading results. Hence statistical estimation technique can also be seen as important.

#### **Summary of Previous Studies on the Field**

In this section a sample of empirical studies have been examined to show the variety, and lack of consensus on the effect of globalisation on the welfare state. Most of the studies are focused on advanced capitalist states in the OECD, although some studies have focused on Latin American countries. Further, most of the studies applies time-series analysis from the 1960 and onwards, using the "standard" measure of the welfare state, i.e. total government expenditures of GDP devoted to welfare. More recent studies have started to use other measures of welfare, the CWEDS, as well as applying the KOF index of globalisation in order to better capture the multifaceted phenomena, however, these developments have still not been able to draw firm conclusion. Furthermore, the empirical studies presented in this section are highly heterogeneous, which additionally motivates the use of a meta-analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See for example the discussion between Green, et al. (2001) and Beck and Katz (2001)

In order to summarise the previous research, a meta-analysis is a helpful and suitable tool. In the next section the methodology for conducting a meta-analysis is presented.

#### **Chapter Three: Method**

This thesis takes a quantitative approach to answer the research questions presented in the introduction. First, this chapter will discuss the feasibility of applying a meta-analysis to an inconclusive literature. Then, a five stage model on how to conduct a meta-analysis follows. This model describes how to search the literature, choose the measure for the dependent variable, the selection of the independent variables (moderator variables), how to investigate publication bias through a funnel plot, and finally, how to conduct more rigorous tests for both publication bias and heterogeneity through MRAs. A meta-analysis can be defined as:

A systematic approach towards summarising the findings of a collection of independently conducted studies on a specific research problem. In meta-analysis, statistical analyses are carried out on the published results of empirical studies on a specific research question (Hox 2010:205).

#### Meta-analysis Versus "Traditional" Literary Reviews

Given the inconclusive relationship of previous research, several options are available to investigate the relationship between globalisation and the welfare state. A common approach is to do a qualitative narrative literary review or vote counting. A narrative literature review "relies on a researcher's ability to digest the array of findings across studies and arrive at a pronouncement regarding the evidence for or against a hypothesis using some unknown and unknowable (that is, subjective) mental calculus" (Wilson 2001:73). Further, Stanley and Jarrell 1989:300) argues that a narrative review "impressionistically chooses which studies to include, what weights to attach to the results, and which factors that are responsible for the differences". There are several limitations and problems with such reviews. (Stanley 2001, Stanley and Jarrell 1989, Stanley and Jarrell 2005, Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012, Wilson 2001, Hedges and Olkin 1985, and Hunter and Schmidt 2004). First, methodological selection bias often occur. That implies that researchers might omit studies that are not in line with their preferred hypothesis. Furthermore, this problem can be linked to subjectivity which inevitably is an issue in narrative reviews. Secondly, these options can do nothing to detect or control for publication bias, which is to be regarded as the "rule" in most empirical research areas (Stanley, et al. 2008). Vote counting is another option when doing literary reviews. Vote counting is a form of quantitative literary review. "in its simplest form, it consists merely of a tabulation of significant and nonsignificant results" (Hunter and Schmidt 2004:446). When doing vote counting, each study is given a vote based on that study's significance level. Thus, a conclusion reached by vote counting will only rely on the number of significant results supporting or rejecting a given hypothesis. Furthermore, vote counting cannot address the issue of publication bias. "Thus the traditional voting method is fatally flawed both statistically and logically" (Hunter and Schmidt 2004:447).

Given the available options for conducting a literature review, the meta-regression analysis method was chosen. "Armed with the results of a MRA, the reviewer is in a better position to identify trends and to make interferences about the literature." (Stanley and Jarell 1989:303). The motivation for applying meta-analysis is manifold. First a meta-analysis does not a priori judge studies based on study quality; hence it will be more "neutral" than a traditional review since the studies solely are based on a statistical measure of quality. Secondly, the issue of publication bias, a long know problem in science in general, can explicitly be addressed. Thirdly, one strives to be as inclusive as possible, and include all the studies related to the research question. All in the sense that the studies meet some criteria that are necessary to be able to do a meta-analysis. Fourthly, a meta-analysis can explain why there is variation across research, and thus reach conclusions about the research process itself, which is not available for any of the other research methods. Fifth, when doing a meta-analysis, one "uses essentially the same tools and statistical models as...the econometricians who produce empirical economic estimates" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:7). Therefore the method itself creates no higher thresholds in regard to the viability compared to doing for example a time series panel data analysis of globalisations effect on the welfare state.

The meta-analysis method is of course not perfect, and has been met by some critique<sup>14</sup>. Stanley (2001:146-147) presents several limitations of meta-analysis. First, a discussion of which moderator variables that should be included exists. The moderator variables are variables that are coded to be able to address heterogeneity among studies. Some are vital to be able to carry out a meta-analysis, while other moderator variables are grounded in theory. According to Stanley (2008:147), the moderator variables can be examined statistically and compared.

The problem of publication bias is also likely to influence a meta-analysis. Given that publication bias exists, "this in turn leads to biased meta-analysis results" (Wolf 1986:14). However, with statistical methods at hand this problem can be addressed and the ability to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> For a lengthy critique of the application of meta-analysis in social science, see Stegenga (2011)

detect publication bias and even correct it is available. The method can also detect the "true" empirical effect beyond publication bias (Stanley 2005)

Some have argued that meta-analysis tries to compare "apples and oranges". In other words, the meta-analysis tries to make comparison across too dissimilar studies to be able to draw meaningful interference. However, this "problem" will be present in (almost) any study and review since most studies not are identical replications of each other, "so including studies that are diverse in methodology, measures, and sample within a meta-analysis has the advantage of improving the generalizability of the conclusion" (Card 2012:25). Further, methodological differences and other differences between studies should be included in the moderator variables that further reduce this problem (Rosenthal and DiMatteo 2001). Another similar critique is based on the common idea of "garbage in, garbage out". This implies that studies with poor quality are included in the meta-analysis alongside with studies of good quality. A central question is how to judge the quality of a study. One form of quality check would be to include only studies from highly ranked journals, since one subjectively expects that a study from a leading journal will have higher quality than a study published in a small regional journal (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:34) however, suggest that these quality checks inevitably are objective, and therefore they promote the use of statistical approaches to quality, "which is to use the estimates precision...which is available for all estimates included in the meta-data" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:34). All of these presented problems are also present in narrative reviews. Furthermore, most of these problems can be handled through statistical modelling and the application of meta-regression analysis. Given the wide variation of outcome regarding globalisations effect on the welfare state and the chosen method is suitable to offer "an objective quantification of...research. No more objective, or comprehensive, or rigorous method exists to asses a research literature or to draw useful...interferences from research" (Stanley, et al. 2008:290).

### Conducting the Meta-Analysis and Meta-Regression Analysis (MRA)

There are many ways to conduct a meta-analysis. This thesis largely follows the recommendations and approaches suggested by Stanley and his collaborators<sup>15</sup>, and the thesis also follows the MAER-network's guidelines for publishing meta-analysis (Stanley, et al.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Stanley and Jarrell (1989), Stanley (2001) and Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012).

2013). For the more technical aspects, the suggestions of Hunter and Schmidt (2004) are utilised.

The thesis has a twofold objective. First: to establish if there is an effect of globalization on the welfare state. This is done through what Feld and Heckemeyer(2011) refer to as a "classical meta-analysis" or a "bare-bone meta-analysis" by Hunter and Schmidt (2004). The second objective is to investigate whether publication bias is present, and how this might affect the literature and to model heterogeneity. To be able to do this, more technical statistical methods are used, and it is therefore necessary to conduct MRAs.

There are basically five steps in the meta-regression analysis approach conducted here.

- 1. Search the relevant literature and selecting and coding of estimates
- 2. Summarizing research: choose moderator variables and obtain the effect size
- 3. Accommodating publication bias
- 4. MRA to test beyond publication bias and to model heterogeneity
- 5. Guiding research and policy

Recalling the definition of a meta-analysis from Hox, a meta-analysis is conducted in order to summarise and interpret previous research findings. The first steps, step 1-2, are carried out to do this. These steps are also of vital importance for the MRA that follows.

#### Searching the Literature and Coding of Studies

The search for literature started out by reading relevant overview articles and the studies presented within them. (Schulze and Ursprung 1999, Koster 2009, Gemmell, et al. 2008). The first step in a meta-analysis is to conduct a systematic search for the relevant literature. In order to do this, a specific coding scheme must be developed. "The goal of searching and retrieving the literature for a meta-analytic review is to obtain a representative, unbiased

collection of studies from which interferences can be made about a larger population of studies" (Card 2012:36).

Then as suggested by Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012) a simple search on Google Scholar for studies related to the research questions followed. Search words included "globalisation + welfare", "globalization+ welfare state, "welfare", "welfare state", "efficiency hypothesis", "compensation hypothesis", "government spending + globalisation/globalization", public expenditures + globalization", "welfare spending + globalisation/globalization", "social spending + globalization". These searches yield many results; therefore a more systematic search was essential to obtain studies that can be included. A more specialised search for econometric studies followed on ISI Web of Science. In order to bear out the simplest form of a meta-analysis, studies must contain what Stanley and Doucouliagos(2012:14) refer to as essential data, which is: "reported regression coefficients, sample size, standard errors and/or t-statistics (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:14). The search for studies was finalised in March 2014.

Thus to decide which studies to include, some eligibility criteria must be fulfilled. Given the scope of the research questions for this thesis this criteria implies (at least) one measure of welfare state and (at least) one measure of globalisation. That implies an interest in studies with welfare on the left hand side of the regression, and globalisation on the right hand side. Secondly, only econometric studies are included. This omits case studies and other forms of qualitative studies, notwithstanding their usefulness. Thirdly, the studies must report sufficient statistics from which an effect size can be calculated. Therefore, studies that only contain descriptive statistics are excluded from the analysis. For example the studies by Navarro, et al. (2004) and Kite (2002) are not included, since they only presents descriptive statistics and no effect size can be calculated.

Thus, this thesis is limited to quantitative research where regression coefficients are reported so an effect size can be calculated. In line with Doucouliagos, et al. (2005:325) this "selection bias is entirely dictated by the possibility of making meaningful comparison and is not influenced by the source or the outcome of the research".

As mentioned in the section on the motivation for using meta-analysis, a main point is that a meta-analysis does not a priori judge a study based on its quality, i.e. excludes studies written in an "unfamiliar" or not in a highly ranked journal. Following Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:34) "each estimate's precision (i.e. 1/S.E) is used as the indicator of quality. This is the

most statistically valid approach as it is derived directly from the study's estimate and does not rely on any additional judgement". Given this quality measure, the population of studies included in the thesis are collected both from highly ranked journals, and less highly ranked journals<sup>16</sup>.

The population of studies, should be as inclusive as possible, nevertheless a strict standard for inclusion must apply. "A meta-analysis offers a systematic assessment of the evidence base, and, hence, it is replicable by independent researchers. (Costa-Font, et al. 2014:5). In order to account for the reliability of the thesis, the inclusion/exclusion coding protocol is included in the appendix

The initial data-set contains only studies written in English, although a search also was done in German journals<sup>17</sup>. Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012) note that exclusion of non-English studies might not be critical since most journals are written in English. In their survey of political science journals Giles and Garand 2007 find that all the "top 90" journals are written in English. Therefore this exclusion will not be problematic for the overall meta-data sample. Furthermore, a clear understanding of the studies are necessary, therefore a simple translation and inclusion of regression coefficients from articles in a foreign language<sup>18</sup> is not sufficient. (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:15). Furthermore, studies that are not published, i.e. working papers, are not included in this meta-analysis. Since the globalisation-welfare state literature is mature, and well established, "the exclusion of unpublished studies is unlikely to affect the results" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:19). If studies are written by the same author and use the same dataset and time period these studies are excluded from the meta-dataset in order to try to avoid severe author dependency.

<sup>17</sup> The search for German studies resulted in either: studies that used descriptive statistics only; or studies that also are published in English, for example Jahn 2003 that also is published in English as Jahn 2006 <sup>18</sup> I.e not English

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For example, the study by Gizelis 2005, published in *International Interactions* is less highly ranked than the study by for example Kaufman and Segura-Ubiergo 2001 published in *World Politics* based to the impact factor of the journals (Journal Citation Report)

#### **The Dependent Variables**

In order to be able to summarise and interpret the studies in a meta-analysis a common metric must be calculated to be able to run the analysis, and to make meaningful comparisons across studies. This metric is in a meta-analysis called an effect size. The effect size can be obtained in many ways<sup>19</sup>, and there are several options available when doing a meta-analysis. "The most commonly used effect sizes…are elasticities, partial correlation and t-statistics" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:29), although other options also are available. The effect size is also the dependent variable in the MRA.

Elasticities are widely used as an effect size measures in economics. "Elasticity measure the percentage change in some economic phenomenon arising from a percentage increase in some stimulus" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:26). Elasticities are often not reported directly and must therefore be calculated. Elasticities however, are not always possible to calculate, and their standard errors can be hard to derive. "In a log-log form the regression coefficient are elasticities and their standard errors can be used directly" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:26). If the elasticites has to be calculated however, the standard error of the regression is not the standard error of the elasticity. Thus, "the number of estimates that can be included will tend to be smaller than if the partial correlation is used" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:27).

Semi-elasticities "measure the percentage change in Y when X changes by one unit". (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:28). If the dependent variables in the studies used are expressed in logs, semi-elasticities are very useful. Furthermore, standard errors are directly derived from the regression output. A drawback of using semi-elasticities is that the studies must use the same dependent variable in order to be combined (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:28).

T-statistics are the third conventional effect size measure. T-statistics are comparable across studies and easily collected from reported regression coefficients. However, t-statistics can be hard to interpret, and it is necessary to "control for its predictable statistical power" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:28).

This thesis will use partial correlation as the measure of effect size. Partial correlations are widely used as an effect size measure; see for example Abdullah, et al. (2013), Doucouliagos

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> For calculations of and further descriptions of alternative effect size measures see Card (2012) chapter 5, Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:22-29) and Hunter and Schmidt (2004) chapter 7

and Paldam (2013) and Costa-Font, et al. (2014) for other recent applications. As elasticities, partial correlations are often not reported directly in studies, and must therefore be calculated from reported coefficients. "The partial correlation is a measure of strength and direction of the association between two variables, holding other variables constant" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:24).

The calculation of the partial correlation, r, is as follows:

$$r = \frac{t}{\sqrt{t^2 + df}}$$
 1.1

Where *t* denotes the t-statistics and *df* the degrees of freedom of this t-statistics. "if t-statistics are not reported, they can be approximated from the reported levels of statistical significance, or from the reported regression coefficients and standard errors" (Doucouliagos and Ulubasoglu 2008b:3). The standard error of r is calculated by standard error,  $r = \sqrt{(1 - r^2)/df}$ , which also is necessary to calculate in order to do a MRA.

There are several advantages by applying partial correlations as a measure for effect size. First, it is a unitless measure, so the partial correlation from one study is directly comparable to a partial correlation from another. As noted above the partial correlation can be calculated from a large set of estimates, making it easier to obtain than other effect size measures. Since different journals and authors of books have different reporting standards, this approach is favourable, since it allows for the incorporation of a wide variety of studies, and thus making the meta-dataset as comprehensive as possible.

A disadvantage of using partial correlations as effect size is that they are not normal distributed when their values are close to  $\pm 1^{20}$ . However, according to Stanley and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:25) notes that a normal remedy when this problem is present is to use Fisher's Z-transformation:  $z = \frac{1}{2} \ln(\frac{1+r}{1-r})$ . However, through research, they have found that the transformation makes little practical difference of the central findings.

Doucouliagos (2012:25) this might not be a problem since few of the values will be close to this limit. In order to interpret the value of the effect size Cohen (1988:79-80) developed the following guidelines: if the size of r is less than 0.1 the effect is small, medium if 0.3 and large if 0.5 or more. Another disadvantage of using the partial correlation is that it is a statistical measure of effect. Ideally, an effect size that can capture an economic effect would have been favourable, for example elasticity. These disadvantages set aside; the partial correlation was chosen since it enables for a wider and more comprehensive data-set.

# Selection of Moderator (Meta-Independent) Variables <sup>21 22</sup>

In a meta-analysis, the independent variables are called moderator variables. Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012) make a distinction between *essential* and *typical* variables. Essential variables are variables that are necessary to be able to do a MRA, while typical variables are variables that take different study characteristics into account. The moderator variables "are those study characteristics that are thought to be consequential" (Stanley 2001:137), and contains information on study specific choices made by authors on for example research design ,what kind of data used in regressions and characteristics of the author etc. The moderator variables are either coded as binary dummy variables if they are study characteristics, or as metric variables if they are essential variables (year published, effect size, degrees of freedom). The full list and justification for the moderator variables included in the thesis are presented in the part on data. These steps will make it possible to carry out a "classical meta-analysis" and lay out the framework for the more advanced meta-regression analyses.

#### Turning to Meta-regression Analysis (MRA)

Although the preliminary part spells out the step in conducting a classical meta-analysis, that is finding the effect of a phenomenon, a meta-analysis can do much more which are step 3-5 mentioned above. This is done through the application of MRA. MRA can be defined as: "a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> For a full list of the justification of moderator variables, see chapter 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Following the MAER-network's guidelines for publishing meta-analysis. Stanley, et al. (2013)

meta-analytic technique developed specially for economics research in series of research or presentations. More specially, a regression model may be used to explain differences among empirical estimates of some economic phenomenon" (Stanley and Jarrell (1998:953). According to Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:38) "the main contribution of meta-analysis is to make interferences about the state of economic and business knowledge and to correct a literature for misspecifications and selection bias that typically plague the empirical studies". In order to be able to model the MRA the previous collected and calculated effect sizes are essential. Doucouliagos and Paldam (2013:585) note that MRA is conducted at two levels. The first level involves coding, effect size and tests for publication bias. The second level allows for testing for heterogeneity which can be used to "(i) identify factors that result in excess variation in reported estimates and (ii) adjust the meta-average for omitted variable bias".

# Publication Bias<sup>23</sup>

A central topic while conducting a meta-analysis is the issue of publication bias. Publication bias is a long known phenomenon in science in general (see for example Begg and Berlin 1988). Publication bias occurs because "researchers, reviewers and editors treat 'statistically significant' results more favourably; hence, they are more likely to be published" (Stanley et al. 2008:279). Insignificant studies on the other hand, are less "likely to be published, since they might be thought to say little about the phenomenon in question" (Stanley et al. 2008:279). The consequences of publication bias, is thus that the literature reports larger effects than there really are (Stanley 2008:104), thus creating a false representation of reality. Publication bias should therefore be treated as a serious problem, since empirical effects may be larger than they really are. Thus "publication bias can distort both scientific interferences and policy decisions" (Doucouliagos, et al. 2005:321). Gerber and Malhotra (2008) found evidence of publication bias in leading political science journals, and in a meta-meta-analysis of 87 different areas of research in economics, Doucouliagos and Stanley (2013) also found substantial evidence of publication bias. Given the polarisation of the globalisation- welfare state literature discussed in chapter 2, there might not be any incentives to prefer one side of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Hunter and Schmidt (2004) refer to this issue as availability bias, while Rosenthal (1979) calls it the file drawer problem. Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012) suggest that the problem more accurately should be called "selective reporting bias". This thesis will use publication bias as the term for the issue.

the debate over the other. Therefore, the globalisation-welfare state literature might serve as a special field where publication bias is not present. Other meta-analysis of inconclusive research areas have also found that publication bias is not present, for example Adam, et al. (2013) on globalisation and capital taxation and Haile and Pugh (2013) on exchange rates and international trade. However, since publication bias can mislead research and interference, it is important to test for the presence of publication bias.

Publication bias may arise due to many factors. According to Callot and Paldam (2010:5-6) there are different priors among researchers which can lead to censoring of the results, which in turn can lead to publication bias. These priors are labelled political, economic, theoretical and polishing priors. As long as these priors are not met, the research can be discarded. The first prior suggest that the finding is political or morally unpleasant. For example, in their meta-analysis approach to aid effectiveness Doucouliagos and Paldam (2008, 2009, 2011a), notes that "aid effectiveness is a field where many researchers (and perhaps journals) are reluctant to publish negative results" (Doucouliagos and Paldam 2009:435), since most researchers "wish to make a positive contribution to the laudable enterprise of development aid" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:52). The second can occur if researchers work in a field where they have interests, for example through funded research. The third if theoretically the finding cannot be possible, and the fourth prior is related to the want of reaching "pleasant results", that is finding statistical significant results, and discard unclear and non-significant results. Polishing stems from researchers want of clarity and the general focus on finding statistical significant results in the academic world<sup>24</sup>. Eventually, the research has found a result generated by the "stopping rule". There are, according to Callot and Paldam (2011:7), three such stopping rules. The first that the research satisfies the researcher's priors, i.e. the researcher likes it, the second that the results are statistically satisfactory, and the third that the result is considered to be marketable on the market for research. Censoring of results will thus ultimately lead to publication bias. Polishing and censoring are related, but censoring might be considered more serious - censoring implies after all, discarding a finding because it is not considered as "right".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> For an elaboration on this issue particularly, see Brodeur, et al. (2013)
Given its potentially severe consequences it is prudent to investigate publication bias in any MRA. A recommended starting point for detecting publication bias is an inspection of a funnel plot. A funnel plot is a graph of precision versus effect size. The most common measure of precision is the inverse of the standard error (1/SE) (Stanley 2005:314). It should be noted that "SE is the standard error of the partial correlation and not the standard error of the regression coefficient" (Abdullah, et al. 2013:15).

"Asymmetry is the key to identifying publication bias" (Stanley 2008:107). If the funnel plot shows an asymmetric shape, this shape can be interpreted as a preliminary identification of publication bias. The more precise the estimates, the closer to the estimated "true" effect the points in the funnel plot are. Recall that precision is linked to the standard error of the estimate. When the sample is large, the standard error will be small, and the confidence in the estimate high. (Midtbø 2007:92). Therefore, studies with larger sample sizes will have smaller standard errors and therefore be more precise. Studies with less precise estimates, i.e. studies with larger standard errors, on the other hand, will have lower precision,

"In the absence of publication bias, estimates should be randomly and systematically distributed around the true population parameter" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:60). The estimates at the bottom of the graph, have large standard errors, and will therefore be widely dispersed (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:55). The more precise estimates will be more compactly distributed around the true effect.

The solid line in figure 1 and 2 indicates a partial correlation of zero. It should be noted that this line could be anywhere; in the following two examples, the average effect size is set to be zero. "In the absence of publication bias, estimates should be randomly distributed around the true population parameter, whatever its value" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:60), and it is not always constrained to be zero.

In the following two examples figure 1 shows a funnel plot with no publication bias and figure 2 shows a funnel plot with publication bias. It should be noted that the two figures use hypothetical values and are used for examples only. Note that the distribution of estimates are widely dispersed, and show no clear sign of publication bias, in other words, the shape of the graph looks like a funnel. "Heteroscedasticity dictates the expected inverted funnel shape. Studies with less precision and hence larger standard errors are at the bottom of the graph and will produce estimates that are more spread out" (Stanley 2008:107).



Notes: Hypothetical partial correlation and precision values. Used for example only.

Figure 1: No publication bias



Note: See Figure 1

## **Figure 2: Publication bias**

Figure 1 displays a funnel plot with no publication bias. Estimates are spread both on the right and the left hand side of 0, the estimated "true" effect in this example, indicating that studies report both negative and positive results. The more precise estimates are closer to the true effect, while the less precise estimates are more spread out.

The asymmetry in figure 2 shows a clear example of publication bias. The overweight of estimates to the right suggest that positive results are reported more than negative result, resulting in a right-skewed distribution. This skewedness clearly suggests that publication bias is present in favour of positive results.

For real illustrations, see for example Doucouliagos, et al. (2005) for a funnel plot with no publication bias on union-productivity, and Rose and Stanley (2005) for a funnel graph with publication bias on common currencies and international trade.

Although a funnel plot is considered to be "the simplest and most commonly used method to detect publication bias" (Sutton, et al. 2000:1574), Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:148) note that "interpretation of graphs is inevitably subjective and no substitute for rigorous statistical

analysis". Therefore statistical tests for publication bias are necessary to fully account for the problem, especially if the results of the funnel plot are not clear-cut and hard to interpret meaningfully. The next section deals with how to statistically test for publication bias with simple MRA.

#### Statistical Tests for Publication Bias and How to Correct it

There are many available ways to detect and identify publication bias. One formal statistical way for testing for a genuine empirical effect and correct publication bias is to use the funnel asymmetry testing, precision effect testing: the FAT-PET MRA<sup>25</sup>. Other options are also available, but these will not be discussed in length here. For thorough reviews of the available methods, see Stanley (2005) and Stanley (2008). One early contributor to addressing the issue of publication bias is Rosenthal (1979). Rosenthal (1979:638) suggests at the extreme that 95 percent of all studies with non-significant results are filed away in the drawer, hence the name the "file drawer problem". Therefore a "failsafe N" can be calculated. The failsafe N formula takes the original effect size as the point of departure, and calculates "the number of additional 'negative' studies (studies in which the intervention effect was zero) that would be needed to increase the P value for the meta-analysis" (Sterne, et al. 2011). However, this method is not considered to be the best in modern meta-analysis theory. (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012, Hunter and Schmidt 2004), and is not widely used in modern MRAs.

Meta significance testing is based on statistical power and the "relationship between a study's effect (its t-value) and its degrees of freedom as a means to identifying a genuine empirical effect" (Stanley 2005:328). When applying this approach a statistically significant relationship" between the log of the absolute effect size and the log of degrees of freedom indicates the existence of a true effect" (Haile and Pugh 2013:12)<sup>26</sup>. However, the meta

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Stanley and Doucouliagos(2012 :149) notes that there is a consensus on the use of FAT-PET-PEESE MRA as the best correction for publication bias.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> For application and calculation see for example Haile and Pugh 2013 and Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:77-78)

significant test is not recommended to use, since it can find evidence of an empirical effect even though it does not exist Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:77).

Trim and fill is another method to correct publication bias, but it is "not a method for determine whether it exists" (Hunter and Schmidt 2004:508). The trim and fill method takes a funnel plot as the point of departure, and it is based on an imputed correction of estimates by "trimming the excess reported studies on the "preferred" side of the funnel graph and filling in the missing, unreported studies on the other side" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:74). Moreno, et al. (2009:15) note that there are other regression-based adjustments that performs better than the trim and fill method.

As recommended by Stanley and Doucouliagos<sup>27</sup> the FAT-PET MRA is the preferred option to controll and correct publication bias in this thesis. The FAT-PET MRA model consists of two parts: the FAT which tests for publication bias, and the PET test for a genuine empirical effect. The model can be expressed as follows using WLS with precision (1/SE) as weights:

$$t_i = \beta_1 + \beta_0 (1/SE_i) + v_i$$
 1.2

Where  $t_i$  denotes the reported estimates of the t-value, and *SE* its standard errors. Publication bias is tested for the asymmetry of the funnel if H0:  $\beta_1 = 0$ , in other words, there are no publication bias if we can keep the null-hypothesis. If H0 : $\beta_0 = 0$ , this "serves as a test of whether or not there is genuine underlying empirical effect beyond the potential of distortion due to publication bias" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:62). In order to interpret the result of the FAT-PET test, Doucouliagos and Stanley (2013:320-321) suggest the following guidelines:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Through Monte Carlo simulations Stanley (2008) find that the FAT-PET MRAs are powerful and valid tests to account for publication bias.

1. If FAT is statistically insignificant or if  $|\beta 0| < 1$ , then selectivity is 'little to modest'.

2. If FAT is statistically significant and if  $1 \le |\beta 0| \le 2$ , then there is 'substantial' selectivity.

3. If FAT is statistically significant and if  $|\beta 0| > 2$ , then there is 'severe' selectivity.

If publication bias is present, the Precision-Effect Estimate with Standard Errors (PESSE) MRA is the preferred option by Stanley and Doucouliagos. The PESSE MRA provides a "better estimate of the underlying "true" effect when there is an effect. However this is not true when there is no empirical effect and only publication selection" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:66).

The PESSE model takes the following form:

$$t_i = \beta_1 S E_i + \beta_0 (1/S E_i) + v_i$$
 1.3

Where the standard errors from the partial correlations are included in both terms. It should be noted that the PESSE only should be used if publication bias is found when modelling the FAT-PET-MRA.

#### **Modelling Heterogeneity**

Heterogeneity is another pivotal issue MRA can address. Theoretically, the globalisationwelfare state literature allows for large heterogeneity across studies since a solid research base finds supports for all of the three hypotheses presented in chapter 2. Furthermore it is also methodologically plausible that heterogeneity will be present (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:80). Heterogeneity arises from the fact that the expected value of a reported estimate will often depend on many other factors. These other factors are related to how the primary research is done. Eventually, these different factors are reflected in the moderator variables in the MRA. To be able to address this issue, multiple MRA is applied. When conducting a multiple MRA there are several choices of effects to model. There is a debate in the literature whether to model the multiple MRA with *fixed* or *random effects*, and more recently if one should use *weighted least-square (WLS)*. It should be noted that the terms *fixed* and *random*  are used differently in MRA than in panel-data analysis and "normal econometrics." In metaanalysis the difference between fixed and random effects models originate from the underlying assumption as regards the nature of the 'true' effects" (Mekasha and Tarp 2013:581). It should also be noted that MRA not should be estimated with OLS due to heteroscedasticity. Heteroscedasticity is an inevitable issue in meta-analysis since different studies use different estimation techniques, data sets, different sample sizes, and the variance of the estimated coefficients may not be equal (Stanley and Jarell 1989:304). Hence, MRA models should be modelled with WLS, using precision as weights. A *fixed* MRA is suitable if all the studies estimate a common effect "and that all estimates are drawn from the same population with the same mean" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:46). Thus, the fixed effects model assume that the studies included in the meta-dataset are the whole population of studies (Hunter and Schmidt 2000:277), an assumption that could be regarded as too unrealistic. A random effects MRA can be useful if "study differences result from both sampling errors as well as random differences between studies"(Doucouliagos and Ulubasoglu 2008a:66). Further the random effects model assumes that the studies included are a sample of the whole population, and can therefore be argued to be more realistic than the assumption for the fixed effects model. The random effects model adds an additional term in order to account for unexplained heterogeneity. Random effects models however have been showed to be biased when publication bias is present due to the assumption that "these added random effects need to be independent of all of the explanatory variables. However, this is not likely to be true for MRA models of publication selection because imprecise studies require greater effort to find statistical significance" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:82), and they therefore do "not recommend the use of random-effects MRAs" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:83). Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:83) show that when publication bias is present, the random effects model "increases the estimated effect in the same direction as the observed publication bias", thus suggesting that a random effects model can overestimate the effect. The WLS-MRA is suggested by Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012) to be a more appropriate estimation technique to use compared to random effects. Further research has also suggested that the WLS approach is more suitable than the fixed effects Stanley and Doucouliagos (2013a, 2013b). The WLS-model allows for "research dimensions that explain both the reported heterogeneity among results and ensuring that any simple MRA finding is robust to more comprehensive analysis. (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:150)<sup>28</sup>. Furthermore "WLS models are efficient if

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> In a series of working papers, Stanley and Doucouliagos (2013a,b) further promotes the use of WLS metaregression analysis

estimation models are heteroscedastic, and the nature of heteroscedasticity is known" (Feld and Heckemeyer 2011:244-245), which is the case in MRA. Therefore the WLS approach to estimating the MRA will be the preferred option of this thesis.

To accommodate robustness and the validity of the MRA models in use, a Hausman test can be used to find whether or not fixed or random effects are appropriate to be modelled, and a Breusch-Pagan Lagrange multiplier test can be used to decide if a multilevel model is necessary (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:104). In order to ensure further robustness, several alternative models need to be explored and reported (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:150). Further models should be estimated with robust standard errors due to the heteroscedastic nature of MRA. Dependency is another issue the when models consists of several estimates. In a meta-analysis dependence can take three forms: either through study dependency when more than one estimate is reported, through author dependency if an author publishes more than one study, or through spatial dependency if researchers are influenced by prior findings or receive direct feedback from each other (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:36). Stanley and Doucouliagos recommended two approaches to account for dependency among estimates and to correct MRA standard errors: either to use cluster robust standard errors or multilevel modelling. When clustering, dataset, author and the study are reasonable dimensions upon which to cluster (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:100). Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:103-104) further recommend to rely on the results "that are consistent across the multiple WLS, FEML and cluster-robust MRAs along with the simple FAT-PET-PESSE-MRAs".

#### General-to-specific Modelling of the MRA

A general-to-specific (g-t-s) approach is advocated by Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:90-91). G-t-S modelling starts off with first having a general model, which is a model that contains all the moderator variables. Then the least significant variables are systematically removed, one at the time until only the statistically significant variables are left. (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:90-91). The purpose of the g-t-s approach is to "minimise the potential of identifying spurious research dimensions through data mining" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:104).

Equation 1.5 expands the simple FAT-PET-PESSE equation 1.4 to be a multivariate model by adding moderator variables, Z and K, in order to explain and allowing for exploration of the heterogeneity in the reported results. The Z variables are study characteristics coded as dummy variables (primary, OECD, left etc.), while the K variables are related to publication bias and the effect (partial correlations, standard errors of partial correlations)

$$t_i = \beta_1 + \sum \delta_j K_{ji} + \beta_0 / SE_i + \sum \beta_k Z_{ki} / SE_i + u_i$$
 1.4

This chapter describes the methodological approach of the thesis which offers a framework that broadly can investigate the direction of globalisation on the welfare state, publication bias and the heterogeneity in the studies used in this meta-analysis. First meta- analyses are compared to narrative reviews. Then a step-by step guide on how to conduct a meta-analysis follows. There are essentially two levels in a MRA. The first involves doing a thorough literature search for studies related to the research questions. To be able to compare different studies, an effect size (the dependent variable) must be calculated. The first level can also test for the presence of publication bias. This is first done by using a funnel plot, and then trough a statistical approach, the FAT-PET-MRA.

The second level relates to study heterogeneity. By applying regression analysis and moderator variables, this enables for a more rigorous exploration of how differences between studies generates variation. More specially, the section on heterogeneity also discuss the differences between fixed, random and WLS MRAs.

In the section that follows, the meta-dataset and the moderator variables are presented in a more rigorous manner. These variables lay the foundation for the application of the MRA that follows in chapter 5.

#### **Chapter Four: Data and the Meta-Data Set**

This chapter presents the data used in the created meta-dataset. Table 1 shows the population of studies included in this meta-analysis. Following the search scheme presented in step 1 on how to conduct a meta-analysis 33 studies are included. There are of course, more than 33 studies that investigate globalisations effect on the welfare state, but the 33 studies met the search criteria. In their meta-meta-analysis, Doucouliagos and Stanley (2013) "found that the average number of studies included was 41 with the median being 35" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:20). The 33 studies in this analysis provides a total of 417 partial correlations of globalisations effect on the welfare state are available, that is, 417 estimates that investigates globalisation on welfare state from primary studies are available. Moreover descriptive statistics for the dependent and independent variables are included.

Author(s)	No. of	Mean. p.c	Median.	Standard	Min. p.c	Max. p.c
	estimates		p.c	deviation		
Avelino, et	15	.0351614	.0730782	.1480156	3496709	.285325
al. (2005)						
Brady and	15	.0128017	.049355	.0976865	155838	.1165628
Lee (2014)						
Brady, et	12	.0300406	.0665109	.0987616	1182129	.1561558
al. (2005)						
Bretschger	2	.2870077	.2870077	.0165624	.2752963	.2987191
and						
Hettich						
(2002)						
Burgoon	28	0406157	0311772	.0793832	174872	.0978742
(2001)						
Busemeyer	40	.2795136	.1460689	.2328942	.0255255	.8338886
(2009)						
Dreher	12	.0779758	.0641445	.0563223	.0051214	.1849665
(2006)						

 

 Table 1: Papers on globalisations effect on the welfare state included in the metaanalysis. References, numbers of estimates and descriptive statistics.

Dreher, et	39	.040768	.036834	.039545	0	.1754338
al. (2008)						
Garrett	2	.0014372	.0014372	.0002385	.0012686	.0016059
(1998)						
Garrett	12	.0419826	.006445	.1490485	219706	.3796632
(2001)						
Garrett	2	0640028	0640028	.0468041	0970983	0309073
(1995)						
Gemmell,	12	.0615731	.0264347	.0948132	.0010706	.3415018
et al.						
(2008)						
Gizelis	2	.1097308	.1097308	.0578316	.0688377	.1506239
(2005)						
Ha (2008)	24	.0049354	0093297	.0592751	0581853	.13145
Huber, et	12	0279695	0266542	.0411324	125414	.0236956
al. (2008)						
Iversen	8	0206519	0310212	.0606798	0927324	.0936205
and						
Cusack						
(2000)						
Jahn	24	045216	0552383	.1099489	2511988	.2100381
(2006)						
Jensen	14	053128	0860197	.1178074	2078565	.1211548
(2011a)						
Jensen	2	.0060634	.0060634	.1183759	077641	.0897678
(2011b)						
Jensen	10	0640103	0486702	.0630719	1646342	.044676
(2011c)						
Jensen, et	12	0193858	0223035	.0474903	0766354	.0423249
al. (2014)						
Kaufman	30	.1258402	.1238629	.0891925	.0005944	.287516

Note: p.c= part	tial correlation.					
Total	417	.0396128	.0272335	.1543157	8613665	.8338886
(2002)						
Swank	5	.0499535	.059071	.0754764	0509257	.1478599
(2005)						
Swank	8	.0011658	.0280101	.1130097	2387511	.1274126
(2001)	5	.0551655	.037071	.070241	0347033	.14/0377
(2005) Swank	5	0531855	050071	070241	- 03/7655	1/78500
Haggard						
Rudra and	10	.0583396	.0532524	.0377078	.0102054	.1255985
(2002)						
Rudra	7	0129719	.0085865	.0971132	1952883	.0805758
(1998)						
Rodrik	6	.0032923	.0019726	.003614	.0003665	.0101347
(1997)	-					
Rodrik	6	0419213	0880697	.1482274	1877309	.1619174
(2012)	20	0943149	0468/13	.2124149	8013665	.1016022
(2009) Disland	20	0042140	0460712	0104140	9612665	1016022
Potrafke	3	.0186026	.0065704	.0216583	.0056318	.0436055
(2010)						
Pontusson						
Kwon and	8	0913351	0744373	.1387056	3041893	.1137908
(2003)						
Obinger	10	.20207.12		.1217090	10007270	
(2001) Kittel and	10	2030749	1473768	1217396	0509273	4048377
Ubiergo						
Segura-						
and						

Table 1 lists the studies included in the meta-analysis with descriptive statistics. The search for studies resulted in a total of 35 studies, where 33 of these studies had sufficient information in order to calculate a corresponding effect size. Due to missing information on t-values, s.e or p-values some of the studies that initially were included are not included in the data-set since the corresponding partial correlations unfortunately could not be calculated.

Following Feld and Heckemeyer (2011:238) the meta-dataset contains a total of 417 numbers of observations: that is partial correlations of globalisation's effect on the welfare state.

The number of estimates per study varies considerably, ranging from 2 to 40. This great span shows that there certainly is heterogeneity across studies. For example the study by Busemeyer (2009) contributes to 40 of the partial correlations, while the studies by among other Garrett (1995) only reports 2 coefficients. Moreover, table 1 also shows that there are both reported positive and negative partial correlation values, and that all studies have at least one positive coefficient. The average study contains 11 coefficients (with a median of 10). The minimum partial correlation is -0.86, while the maximum partial correlation is 0.83. The mean partial correlation of the overall meta-sample is  $\approx 0.04$  with a standard deviation of 0.15. This suggests that the average study will find a small, positive effect of globalisation on the welfare state. The 417 partial correlations derived from the 33 studies are used as the dependent variables in the MRA.

**Moderator Variables** 

Table	2:	Meta-regression	variables	definitions:	Welfare	States	and	Globalisation
Studie	s.							

	Variable	Туре	Description	Mean	SD	Min	Max
	Studyid		Identifying number of the			1	33
ta	Partial correlation		study Effect size measure	.0400757	.1540104	861366	.8338886
Essential da	sePartiall		calculated as: $r = \frac{t}{\sqrt{r^2 + df}}$ Standard error of partial	.0648597	.0366816	.0312338	.2354243
			correlation calculated by s.e $\sqrt{(1-r^2)/df}$				
	yrpublished		Year the study is	2005.593	4.530464	1992	2014
	nocontries		Numbers of countries in the	24.0461	17.4988	5	116
	noyears		study Numbers of years in the study	22.33978	9.037317	1	40
cal data	globindicator		Numbersofglobalisationvariablesinthestudy	2.683857	1.419308	1	6
Typic	oecd	BD	1 if OECD country, 0 if otherwise	.9438669	.2304181	0	1

latam	BD	1 if Latir American	n .1975052	.3985312	0	1
		countries are	2			
		present, 0 in	f			
		otherwise				
left	BD	1 if a lef	t .3388773	.4738209	0	1
		variable is	5			
		included; 0 if	f			
		otherwise				
socxgdp	BD	1 if OECDs	.2889813	.4537611	0	1
		social				
		expenditures are	e			
		used as the	e			
		dependent				
		variable; 0 i	f			
		otherwise.				
XS	BD	1 if cross-	.1247401	.330768	0	1
		sectional data is	5			
		used; o in	f			
		otherwise				
tspd	BD	1 if time series	.8877339	.3160222	0	1
		panel data is	8			
		used; 0 in	f			
		otherwise				
kof	BD	1 if the KOF	.1621622	.3689833	0	1
		index of	f			
		globalisation is	5			
		used; 0 in	f			
		otherwise				
scruggs	BD	1 if Scruggs	.049896	.2179569	0	1
		welfare state data	ı			
		is used; 0 in	f			

		otherwise				
political	BD	1 if the author of .7	7733888	.4190748	0	1
		the study is a				
		political				
		scientist; 0 if				
		otherwise				
beckkatz	BD	1 if Beck and .1	1101871	.3134488	0	1
		Katz's de facto				
		standard is used;				
		0 if otherwise.				
primary	BD	1 if .1	1372141	.3444315	0	1
		globalisation`s				
		effect on the				
		welfare state is				
		the study's				
		primary focus; 0				
		if otherwise				
socxpart	BD	1 if parts of .2	2141372	.4106496	0	1
		social				
		expenditures are				
		used as the				
		dependent				
		variable; 0 If				
		otherwise.				

Notes: Following the distinction made by Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012) between essential and typical data. Essential data refers to data that are essential to carry out a meta-regression analysis, while typical data refers to spesific study charactheristics of each study. BD = binary dummy

Table 2 provides an overview of the chosen moderator variables for the meta-regression. The essential variables are either collected from the studies or calculated with corresponding

formulas. Most of the essential data variables, the Z variables in equation 1.5, are continuous (standard error of partial correlation, partial correlation, number of years, year published). The typical data variables, the K variables in equation 1.5, are study characteristics that are assumed to have an effect on the welfare state. The insight from the literary review in chapter 2 helps to identify characteristics assumed by theory to be crucial in explaining the effect of globalisation on the welfare state.

The operationalization of the variables are mostly self-explanatory and described both in table 2 and in chapter 2. The political variable is coded based either on the authors education, (e.g. education in political science is coded as 1 whereas an education in economics is coded as 0) or his/hers affiliation with a specific department.

The beckkatz variable is related to the estimation technique. If the author relies on a model that includes a fixed effects model with a lagged dependent variable, the study is coded as 1, whereas other estimation techniques (for example Prais-Winston) are coded as 0.

The typical variables are coded as binary dummy variables which has the value of 1 if the characteristic is present; 0 if otherwise. There are some interesting findings in Table 2.Table 2 suggest that the average study is published in 2005 and contains observations of 24 countries over 22 years. Most of the studies rely on time-series-panel data, and investigates OECD countries. Furthermore, the largest numbers of countries included in a study is 116, while the smallest is 5. Most of the studies however, contain countries from the OECD. A total of 93 percent of the studies have included OECD countries, while only 6 percent look at Latin-American countries (or other countries respectively). It should be noted that some of the studies contains both OECD and other countries as well. Moreover, six studies have more than 30 countries included in the sample. "Since a meta-analysis quickly can exhaust the degrees of freedom available, it will often be necessary to omit some potential MRA variables" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:130). By coding the moderator variables broad however, the problem of omitted important variables will be reduced. Given the theoretical considerations and the degrees of freedom available, the moderator variables emphasised here are sensible to include.

#### Data Set

There is a discussion in the literature whether to include all study estimates or only one. Following Feld and Heckemeyer (2011:238) "multiple sampling allows for more powerful tests and more accurate estimates due to a larger underlying sample as compared to single estimate sampling". Moreover, they suggest that "single sampling greatly reduces the degrees of freedom available to the regression analysis, hampering the ability to identify which research dimensions are responsible for the large variation among the reported results" (Feld and Heckemeyer 2011:266). Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:68) supplement this statement with the argument that "some of the multiple estimates may be essential in statistically identifying the effect of a specific important research dimension."

There is also a distinction in the meta-analysis between the *all-set* estimates and the *best-set* estimates. The all-set estimates contain all regression estimates from the globalisation-welfare state literature. That is; all estimates of a study with the welfare state and globalisation, whereas the best-set contains a key regression that is either identified by the author as the preferred model. If the best model is not stated explicitly by the author, Doucouliagos and Ulubasoglu (2008a:67) suggest using estimates with larger groups of countries.

This thesis will rely on the approach advocated by Feld and Heckemeyer (2011) and Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012). Therefore as the current consensus suggest "all the reported estimates are used in an effort to maximise the information available for MRA" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:163)

#### **Missing Data**

Since different journals (and authors of books) have different reporting standards, the problem of missing data in the data-set might occur. As long as t-statistics, regression coefficients, standard errors or t-values are reported, the effect size is easy to calculate. T-values are calculated by dividing the coefficient on the corresponding standard error t=b/se

If p-values and degrees of freedom are reported, the calculation of t-statistics is also possible. The problem is when statistical significance only is specified with stars, usually denoting significance on the 1, 5 or 10 percent level. Thus, a choice has to be made on how to handle this problem which in turn will "introduce some measurement error into the meta data" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:31). There are several approaches available. Greenberg, et al. (2003:33-35) suggest to use the midpoint of the possible statistical significance range, i.e. at 10 percent, the p value is 0.075, at 5 percent 0.03 and 1 percent 0.005. To accommodate potential sensitivity, the model can be regressed with and without the imputed p-values.

#### **Chapter Five: Analysis**

In order to answer the research questions presented in the introduction chapter, the methodological approach and the data presented in chapter 3 and 4 are now put to a test. First, a classical meta-analysis is presented. Then a graphical presentation of the partial correlations and an investigation of publication bias though a funnel plot is presented. Then a FAT-PET-MRA to statistically investigate publication bias follows. In order to answer the question on heterogeneity and differences between studies a multiple MRA is used and six models are presented. All regressions are carried out using Stata 13 with some of the user written MRA options that are available<sup>29</sup>. The general Stata procedures follow Paldam (2013) and Stanley (2013).

#### The Classical Meta-analysis

The Classical meta-analysis is basically a pooling of the estimates using either fixed or random effects. The pooled effect says something about the overall effect of the partial correlation. As the table show, the pooled effect of globalisation on the welfare state is between 0.03 and 0.028 with 95 percent confidence intervals. The classical meta-analysis also calculates Cochran's Q-test and the  $I^2$  statistic to quantify study heterogeneity. The Q-test is significant (p=0.000), suggesting the presence of heterogeneity between studies. The  $I^2$ statistic "is the percentage of variation attributable to heterogeneity" (Harris, et al. 2009:44). For the sample  $I^2 = 77.7\%$  which can be interpreted as high heterogeneity. This pooled effect size suggests that globalisation have a positive effect on the welfare state both in the fixed and random effects models. In other words, globalisation increases welfare spending. In line with Cohen's guidelines, the effect is considered as very small since the pooled effect is less than 0.1. Ceteris paribus an increase of globalisation will thus increase the partial correlation by +0.03 in the fixed effects model and +0.028 in the random effects model, which translate to an increase in welfare. However, these averages are according to Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:47) "premature. Therefore meta-analyst should refrain from drawing any interference from these averages". Further they suggest that "when there is important heterogeneity, any measure of average effect size will not capture the true nature of the ...phenomenon in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> For a general overview of the available meta-analysis options in Stata, see Sterne (2009)

question" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:48). Thus, more advanced methods are crucial to further investigate publication bias and heterogeneity.

## **Table 3: Classical Meta-Analysis**

Estimation	Pooled effect	CI 95
Fixed effects	0.029	0.024 - 0.034
Random effects	0.028	0.016 - 0.039
Notas: CI- Confidence intervals. The n	noton command in State is used to	produce fixed and rendom offects

Notes: CI= Confidence intervals. The metan command in Stata is used to produce fixed and random effects estimates.

## **Graphical Inspections**

To visualise the variation in the dependent variables, some graphical inspections are useful to describe the data used. First, a histogram of the distribution of the partial correlation is presented and then the funnel plot follows.



**Figure 3: Distribution of the partial correlation** 

Figure 3 displays a histogram of the percentage of the partial correlations in the meta-data. Roughly 35 percent of the reported partial correlations have a value in the range of 0-0.1.



## **Funnel Plot**

Notes: The dashed line indicates a partial correlation of 0. The solid line indicates the average partial correlation =0.04 for the whole sample.

#### Figure 4: Funnel plot of globalisation-welfare state partial correlations (n=417)

Figure 4 displays the funnel plot for 417 partial correlations and the chosen measure for precision (1/SE). The plot appears to be symmetrical, i.e. both positive and negative partial correlation coefficients are present, suggesting that there is no publication bias. Most of the values cluster around precision values of 15-25 with relative small partial correlations of 0.25-0.30. With larger partial correlations there is a tendency for less precision of the estimates.

Funnel plots are also useful in "double checking the accuracy of the meta-data" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:40), and to detect outliers and leverage points. Some outliers can be detected. There are two types of outliers, according to Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:41):

effect sizes with low precision but large values of the estimates, or large effect sizes with high precision which also are known as leverage points. Furthermore Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:42) suggest that large effect sizes can be retained with little or no harm on the results, since precision is used as weights later in the statistical analysis. Some partial correlation estimates are close to  $\pm 1$ , no values are too close.

Leverage points with high precision however, can be considered as coding errors. After double checking the data set, some values were recoded due to errors. One value from Gemmell, et al. (2008) has a precision value =32.01. This is not a coding error, and can therefore be regarded as an influential point. This is taken into account when using robust regression. Busemeyers (2009) cross sectional study are the values with relative large partial correlations and low precision on the right hand side of the graph. This indicates exactly what theory predicts. Less precise estimates will be more spread out towards the bottom of the funnel plot due to larger standard errors<sup>30</sup>. The study by Rickard (2012) has the largest partial correlation of -0.86 on the left hand side. Although these estimates are relatively large, they are coded correctly.

In line with the theoretical literature the results are as expected since it reports both negative and positive results for globalisation's effect on the welfare state, since the debate largely can be divided in two schools, either an increase in welfare or a reduction of welfare it is not a surprise that the funnel plot have the expected shape.

The funnel plot also shows that heterogeneity is present which also is in line with the expectations since the different studies have a wide variety of methodological and theoretical variables. Although the funnel plot shows no critical sign of publication bias, more formal statistical tests are essential to address the issue, since the interpretation of graphs are subjective and since statistical tests for publication bias are considered "best practice" in a meta-analysis. In the following section, the simple bivariate FAT-PET-MRA follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Generally, this observation also applies to the other studies when the cross-sectional approach is used: e.g Rodrik (1998) Kittel and Orbinger (2003)

## FAT-PET-MRA Analysis Table 4: FAT-PET-MRA

	(1)	(2)	(3)
	WLS Robust	WLS Cluster robust	Robust
			regression
VARIABLES	Partial correlation	Partial correlation	tstat
sePartial	0.09	0.09	
	(0.21)	(0.09)	
prec			0.02
			(0.99)
Constant	0.02	0.02	0.17
	(1.09)	(0.59)	(0.50)
N	414	414	414
$\mathbf{R}^2$	0.00	0.00	0.00
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	-0.00229	-0.00229	-3.53e-05
Standard error of	0.112	0.112	1.930
regression			

Notes: The dependent variables are the partial correlations between globalisation and welfare state. The variable sePartial is the standard error of the partial correlation and tstat =partial correlation/se of partial correlation. Prec = (1/S.E). Numbers in parentheses are t-values. Model 1 reports results using robust standard errors. Model 2 reports robust standard errors clustered by studyid. Model 3 reports robust regression. Model 1 and 2 uses WLS with precision squared as weights (aweights in Stata 13).Model 3 use the Rreg command in Stata 13 for robust regression. N is the number of observations. A fixed and random effects FAT-PET-MRA was also conducted. This was also insignificant.

The estimation of equation 1.4 is presented in table 2. As noted earlier, the FAT-PET-MRA will statistically identify publication bias and a genuine empirical effect if present. Further, the FAT-PET-PESSE MRA can also be used to correct publication bias if the FAT-PET identifies publication bias.

Model 1 in table 2 use WLS with robust standard errors, and precision squared is used as weights. Robust standard errors are used to accommodate the inherent heteroscedasticity in the meta-dataset. In model 2 the standard errors are clustered by studyid which "should be used whenever multiple estimates are coded per study" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:71), due to author dependency. Model 3 is a robust regression "which corrects for the effects of influential outliers" (Doucouliagos and Paldam 2011b:7). Given the relatively large span of the partial correlations extracted from the studies, some weighting procedure is necessary.

The WLS approach offered here gives "little weight to coefficients with large standard errors, while precise estimates are given a much larger weight" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:101)

First, notice that all the coefficients in all models are statistical insignificant Further there is also great robustness across the models. In model 1 and 2 the SePartial-coefficient is the test for publication bias, the FAT-term ( $\beta$ 1), while the constant tests for a genuine empirical effect, the PET-term ( $\beta$  0). Both the sePartial coefficient and the constant are in these models insignificant and the null hypothesis of  $\beta$ 1 and  $\beta$ 0 cannot be rejected. When using robust regression in model 3, the precision variable prec, the PET, is also insignificant in addition to the constant, the FAT-term.

In all models the FAT-PET MRA cannot reject the null hypothesis of  $\beta 1$  and  $\beta 0$ , i.e. there is no publication bias and no genuine empirical effect. Since no of the estimates are close any level of statistical significance, it is neither necessary nor recommended (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:120) to regress the PESSE model. In line with Doucouliagos and Stanley's (2013) guidelines for publication bias, this results can be interpreted as 'little to modest' publication bias.

A genuine empirical effect beyond publication bias can neither be found due to the nonsignificant result of the constant in model 1 and 2 and the prec variable in model 3. The PET effect is also very small according to Cohen's (1988) guidelines, 0.02- suggesting a negligible effect of globalisation on the welfare state.

To summarise the findings: The FAT-PET MRA indicates that there is no publication bias in the globalisation- welfare state literature and also that there is no genuine empirical effect: *The null hypothesis of \beta 1 and \beta 0 cannot be rejected.* 

This finding also is consistent and as expected based on the graphical inspection of the funnel plot and the theoretical literature. Since both the funnel plot and the FAT-PET-MRA show no sign of publication bias, the preliminary conclusion is therefore that there is no publication bias in the welfare-globalisation literature. Furthermore, the FAT-PET MRA does not provide evidence of a significant genuine empirical effect beyond publication bias. It should be noted that there are some limitations to the FAT-PET-MRA. First, the FAT is according Egger, et al. (1997) and Stanley (2008) known to have low power. The PET on the other hand can

identify effects that are not there due to much excess unexplained heterogeneity (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:64).

Given the limitations of the simple FAT-PET-MRA, Stanley and Doucouliagos suggest that the FAT-PET-MRA alone should not be relied upon (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:65). Therefore, it is important to use multiple MRA to explain heterogeneity. The funnel plot and Cochran's Q Test does reveal much heterogeneity across studies. In order to address this issue and to further assess the robustness of the simple FAT-PET MRA, moderator variables are included in the multiple MRA that follows.

#### **Multiple Meta Regression Analysis**

The second step in the meta-analysis will be to include the moderator variables in order to address the high heterogeneity found in the preliminary analyses. In order to explain this heterogeneity, the moderator variables from table 2 are regressed using equation 1.5 where k = 1, ... 17 moderator variables. All the moderator variables are explained in table 2.

As noted earlier, some weighting procedure must be applied in MRA due to the inherent heteroscedasticity. Following Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012) WLS is the preferred option, and precision squared are used as weights. In order to account for author dependency, robust standard errors clustered by studyid, as in the FAT-PET MRA, are included. All the regressions use the full meta-data sample. Table 4 and 5 reports the results of the multiple MRA models.

Model 1 is a general model, using WLS with precision squared as weights and robust standard errors. This model includes all the moderator variables.

Model 2 presents the results of the g-t-s approach. In the following model only variables that end up being statistically significant at the 10 percent level after testing "downwards" are included. In other words variables that are the least significant are removed one at the time, then re-estimated, until only significant variables, where  $p = \langle 0.01, are left$ . The SePartial variable is also included here in order to capture potential publication bias interacted with the other variables. In model 3 cluster robust standard errors are used in order to handle author dependency. This dependency is "especially acute when multiple estimates from the same study are coded" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:68). Recall that the average study contains 11 estimates. The estimates are clustered by studyid. The coefficients should be the same as in model 1, "the only difference is that standard errors are computed in a manner to account for any potential dependence among the estimates within the specified cluster" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:100).

In order to comply with "traditional" economic reporting, some further exploration of alternative models is included. These are a fixed and random effects model, and a multilevel mixed model. These models are reported only for the sake of robustness and to make comparison to the WLS models.

Model 4 is the general model with fixed effects with dummies for authors included. The author dummies are jointly statistically significant in a collective test (p value =0.0000). The model also includes precision squared as weights and robust standard errors.

Model 5 uses the metareg command in Stata in order to run a random effects regression model. Metareg "is a weighted regression that contains a random-effects component. Because the standard error, or precision is always one of the independent variables in [the] MRA model, a random effects model is likely to be invalid" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:64), therefore, they caution against relying on the metareg-command. Although it is cautioned against using random effects in meta-analysis, this is done in order to ensure further robustness of the findings and to follow common econometric reporting standards.

In model 6, the xtmixed command in Stata is used to include a multilevel mixed effects model structured over studyid. The rationale for including a mixed effects model is that there are several estimates "nested" within studies. Therefore, a multilevel framework can be used to account for within-study dependency. (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:100)

The models using WLS are the preferred models, and all of these models do show consistency regardless of estimation procedure. Through simulations, Stanley and Doucouliagos (2013:14) show that "WLS-MRAs are not only superior to fixed-effects weighted averages; it also dominates random-effects meta-analysis". In choosing upon the final model the g-t-s model is preferred. However, relying on the WLS models that contains all the coded moderator variables is also a sensible approach (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:91).

Table	5:	Multi	ple	MR	A
-------	----	-------	-----	----	---

	/1\		(2)
	(1)	(2)	(3)
	WLS Robust	G-t-S	WLS Cluster robust
VARIABLES	Partial correlation	Partial correlation	Partial correlation
sePartial	-0.90	0.03	-0.90
	(-1.52)	(0.10)	(-1.03)
socxcgdp	-0.04		-0.04
8-r	(-1.58)		(-1.21)
scriiggs	-0.03	-0.04	-0.03
5614585	(-1.23)	(-2.18)	(-1.05)
socxpart	0.02	0.04	0.02
soexpart	(1.52)	(3.37)	(0.66)
Vof	(1.52)	(3.37)	(0.00)
KOI	(2.42)	-0.03	-0.00
1.	(-2.42)	(-1.05)	(-1.88)
globindicator	-0.01		-0.01
	(-1.08)		(-0.56)
nocountries	-0.00		-0.00
	(-0.60)		(-0.32)
novears	-0.00		-0.00
nogouis	(-1 43)		(-0.94)
vrpublished	-0.00		-0.00
yipuolished	(1.04)		(1.63)
VC	(-1.94)	0.13	0.12
A5	(4, 11)	(0.13)	(2, 12)
ton d	(4.11)	(9.14)	(3.13)
tspd	-0.18		-0.18
1 11 /	(-1.09)		(-2.36)
beckkatz	0.06		0.06
_	(2.37)		(2.17)
oecd	0.06		0.06
	(2.18)		(1.86)
latam	0.06		0.06
	(2.32)		(1.77)
primary	-0.04		-0.04
	(-0.94)		(-0.71)
left	0.04		0.04
	(1.51)		(1.10)
political	-0.08	-0.06	-0.08
	(-3.53)	(-3.79)	(-2.66)
Constant	10.28	0.06	10.28
	(1.99)	(1.92)	(1.67)
Observations	414	414	414
$R^2$	0.21	0.16	0.21
Adjusted $R^2$	0.177	0.149	0.177
Standard error of regression	0.102	0.104	0.102
F-test (H0: all coefficients $= 0$ )	P=0.000	P=0.000	P=0.000

Notes: Dependent variable = partial correlation. Model 1, 2 and 3 are estimated with WLS with precision squared as weights. (aweight in Stata 13). Model 1 and 2 use robust standard errors Model 3 use cluster robust standard errors clustered by studyid. WLS= Weighted least square, g-t-s = general to specific. The Numbers in parentheses are t-statistics.

Tuble 6. Manple Mild Pic			
	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Fixed effects	Random effects	Mixed effects
Variables	partial_correlation	partial_correlation	partial_correlation
sePartial	-2.92	-0.63	-2.12
	(-1.34)	(-1.67)	(-1.86)
socxedn	0.34	-0.05	-0.10
soungap	(4 57)	(-2.06)	(-1.73)
seringgs	0.30	-0.03	-0.05
seruggs	(13.17)	(0.87)	(126)
coovport	(13.17)	(-0.87)	0.01
socxpart	(4.21)	(1.70)	(0.27)
Irof	(-4.21)	(1.73)	(-0.27)
KOI	0.11	-0.06	-0.07
	(4.92)	(-2.13)	(-1.39)
globindicator	-0.14	-0.01	0.01
	(-9.67)	(-0.98)	(0.76)
nocountries	-0.00	-0.00	-0.00
	(-1.07)	(-0.20)	(-0.75)
noyears	-0.01	-0.00	-0.01
	(-2.18)	(-0.77)	(-1.77)
yrpublished	0.00	-0.01	-0.01
	(3.81)	(-2.32)	(-1.20)
XS	-0.50	0.11	0.01
	(-2.47)	(3.64)	(0.25)
tspd	-0.30	-0.27	-0.38
	(-2.60)	(-5.25)	(-2, 53)
beckkatz	-0.33	0.06	0.10
beekkutz	(-5, 14)	(2.10)	(2.11)
oecd	0.20	0.07	0.11
oceu	(2.25)	(1.86)	(2,02)
latam	(-3.23)	(1.80)	(2.03)
latam	0.03	0.08	0.13
•	(0.36)	(2.74)	(2.18)
primary	-0.11	-0.02	-0.04
	(-14.21)	(-0.47)	(-0.61)
left	-0.29	0.05	0.06
	(-10.97)	(1.88)	(1.34)
political	-0.30	-0.08	-0.13
	(-16.44)	(-3.76)	(-2.91)
Constant	-2.71	11.33	12.66
	(-2.67)	(2.38)	(1.26)
Observations	414	414	414
$\mathbf{R}^2$	0.40	-	-
Adjusted $R^2$	0.344	0.2802	
Standard error of	0.0910		
regression			-
F-test (H0: all	P=0 000	P=0 000	P=0 000
coefficients = 0		1 0.000	1 0.000
Number of groups			33
rumber of groups			55

#### Table 6: Multiple MRA Robustness

Notes: Dependent variable = partial correlation. Model 4 is estimated with WLS with precision squared as weights. (aweight in Stata 13) and includes author dummies (excluded for presentation) Model 5 use the metareg command in Stata. Model 6 is a mixed effects regression, covariance independent. WLS= Weighted least squares. The numbers in parentheses are t-statistics.

First, notice that there seems to be robustness across all the models reported. The coefficients are highly consistent. The only models that stand out are the random effects model, model 5, and the mixed effects model 6 which estimates different coefficients and t-values than the other models. This is as expected given that it is known that random effects MRA "generates excess variation in applied econometrics" (Doucouliagos and Paldam 2013:586) and should not be relied upon.

In the models, some of the moderator variables are not statistically significant at any level. This is either because the variables does not have any effect on the partial correlation, or" in some cases it is due to multicollinearity, which is often a problem with MRA" (Doucouliagos and Paldam 2008:13). The VIF test can be used to measure multicollinearity (Midtbø 2012:129). The mean VIF in model 1 equals to 2.49, indicating that multicollinearity is not a problem in the data sample.

In model 1, six of the moderator variables are significant at the 10 percent level in a twotailed test. In the g-t-s model, four of the moderator variables are estimated with statistically significant coefficients at the ten percent level. Although the sePartial coefficient is not significant, this variable must be included to account for potential publication bias. This implies that these moderator variables will typically increase or reduce the partial correlation. The variables for cross-sectional analysis, Scruggs, KOF, political and socxpart are significant in the g-t-s model. The g-t-s model is also the preferred model. To jointly test whether these moderator variables and the constant are jointly zero can serve as a test for a genuine, systematic patterns among reported findings (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:98) . This is easily rejected (F( 7, 409) = 24.32 p= 0.0000), thus there are genuine and systematic patterns among research findings.

In model 3, cluster robust standard errors are used to handle author dependency. The studies are clustered by studyid. As the table reveals, clustering has little practical effect. The MRA coefficients remain the same, although the t-values are smaller.

The subsequent models, model 4-6 presented in table 6 are only included for the sake of robustness.

Model 4 is a fixed effects MRA. Compared to the WLS models, the fixed effects model report some differences regarding statistical significance and direction of the coefficients.

The random effects model is included in model 5. Notice that the random effects model reports higher t-values, and that the model also reports different directions for some of the coefficients compared to the WLS models.

Model 6 is a mixed model where estimates are nested within studies. The direction and size of the coefficients are comparable and not noticeably different from those in the WLS models.

Although the different estimation techniques reports some differences regarding the estimation of the coefficient, the most important and robust finding is that all the models suggest that there is no publication bias since the separtial-coefficient does not reach any level of statistical significance in any of the models Therefore all the models, regardless of estimation technique, robustly confirm the absence of publication bias in the globalisation welfare state literature.

Interestingly, the g-t-s model reveals that some of the moderator variables are important in explaining the differences between studies (i.e. they are significant).

Further, Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:104) note that "a successful meta-analysis will find consistent overall results between the simple FAT-PET-PESSE-MRA models and the multiple MRA models regarding the presence of publication selection, the existence of a practically significant empirical effect(or not), and the approximate magnitude of the corrected effect", which is exactly the case in this meta-analysis.

#### Robustness

Following standard econometric practice, some robustness checks and model diagnostics are necessary. "In general, meta-regression analysis can use the full arsenal of econometric techniques and methods" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:68) to account for the robustness of the findings. Therefore some post-estimation tests are also included.

First of all, robustness is ensured through the reporting of several models, including WLS, gt-s modelling, WLS with cluster robust standard errors, fixed and random effects, and a mixed effects model. Dependency among estimates and the correction of the MRA's standard errors are taken into account by applying robust and cluster robust standard errors in model 1,3 and 4. Furthermore, a mixed effects model is included in model 6.

In the F-test, all the moderator variables are jointly significant (p=0.000) in the all the models included.

Some post estimation tests are also included to statistically test the models.

First of all, the Breusch-Pagan / Cook-Weisberg test for heteroscedasticity suggest that the model is not homoscedastic (p=0.000), therefore a standard OLS approach to the data is not appropriate, as theory suggest. Therefore, the OLS model (reported in the appendix) is rejected in favour of the models using WLS. In order to address this heteroscedasticity, WLS with precision squared as weights are used.

The Breusch-Pagan Lagrange multiplier (LM) test can be used to test if there are significant study-level effects. (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:103). The BPLM test is significant at any level(p=0.000), therefore, study-level effects are present.

To answer whether or not a fixed or random effects model should be used, the Hausman specification test can be used. The Hausman-test is significant, indicating that the fixed effects model is the preferred specification (p=0.0015). Thus, if the final model was to be chosen between a fixed and random effects MRA, the fixed effects would have been preferred. However, given the superiority of WLS-MRAs over both fixed and random effects, this is just included as a robustness check.

# Interpretation of the Explanatory Power of the MRA, R<sup>2</sup>

A common metric to consult for the explanatory power of any regression, is the  $R^2$ . In a MRA the  $R^2$  can also be used to explain the variation in the dependent variable, in this case, the partial correlations. Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:133) note that the "explanatory power of reported MRAs ranges from 0.08 to 0.98 depending on the research issue and specification of the MRA". In their assessment of 140 meta-analysis in environmental economics Nelson and Kennedy (2009:362) found the average adjusted  $R^2$  to be 0.48 (with a median of 0.44) Whilst Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:133) found the half of the meta-analysis presented in their

book explained more than 50 percent of the heterogeneity. Compared to these numbers, this meta-analysis explains around 15-34 percent of the observed heterogeneity, which is less than these "average" meta-analyses. Although, the MRA capture about 2 percent (model 1 and 3) of the variation in the partial correlations which is relatively high.

In this section, the empirical analysis of the data presented in chapter 4 is presented in table 4 and 5. The models rely on state-of-the-art meta-regression methodology. First of all, publication bias is investigated through a funnel plot. Then the FAT-PET MRA follows to test for publication bias and a genuine empirical effect. Finally, multiple MRAs with moderator variables are included. All these approaches are consistent and display robustness: Publication bias is not present in the globalisation-welfare state literature. Furthermore, the analyses show that there is heterogeneity between studies.

In the section that follows, the sources of heterogeneity between studies are discussed in a more rigorous manner. The interpretation of the results is straight forward since the estimates are binary dummy variables. As mentioned earlier, the separtial coefficients capture potential publication bias, and thus, if not significant, the interpretation is that there is no publication bias.

#### Chapter Six: The "Statistical" Significance of the MRA

This section sums up the results found in the meta-analysis, as shown in table 4 and 5. The results are interpreted across the models presented, and the reader should by now note that the search for models with high degrees of statistical significance is not the main objective of the MRA, but rather how the moderator variables affect the literature. If a moderator variable is "statistically significant and positive (negative), coefficient in the MRA indicates that the variable increases (reduces) the size of the partial correlation, which again increases (reduces) the effect of globalisation on the welfare state" (Costa-Font, et al. 2014: 14). If a moderator variable on the other hand, is not statistically significant, this indicates that the specific "study characteristic fail to explain the heterogeneity of the empirical findings"(Adam, et al. 2013:207).

## The FAT-PET-MRA

The FAT-PET-MRA indicated that there was no true empirical effect of globalisation on the welfare state. The PET is estimated to be 0.02 (t=1.09, t=0.59) in column 1 and 2 and 0.02 (t=1.06) in column 3 in table 4, which also is close to what the classical meta-analysis found (0.029 for the fixed effects model, and 0.028 for the random effects). Yet a small and positive effect is found. The FAT-PET-MRA did neither find evidence of publication bias in the literature, the FAT was estimated to equal 0.09 (t=0.09) in column 2, table 4. In order to fully and robustly accommodate publication bias, a multiple MRA was conducted.

#### **Publication bias**

Firstly, as noted that the variable sePartial is not statistically significant, regardless of estimation procedure. This is consistent with the funnel plot and the simple FAT-PET-MRA, suggesting that there is no publication bias, even when the moderator variables are included in the multiple regression framework. This also suggests that there is robustness in the previous findings of the FAT-PET MRA, and also the funnel plot. It should be noted that now, the sePartial-coefficient does not alone accounts for publication bias, but that publication bias "occurs through both the SE term, as well as SE interacted with other study characteristics" (Doucouliagos and Paldam 2011b:17).

#### The Genuine Empirical Effect Revisited

Doucouliagos and Paldam (2011b:20) note that "while selection bias is interesting, the essential issue is whether there exist genuine empirical effects". Therefore a predicted<sup>31</sup> genuine empirical effect from the multiple MRA is included. This is done by first removing any publication bias by setting sePartial=0. When sePartial approaches zero, "a study approaches perfection with no estimation error and no publication bias" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:93). According to Doucouliagos and Paldam (2011b:20) the coefficients that "potentially can be interpreted as estimating heterogeneity on the size of the genuine empirical effect are the country dummies" and one of the time variable. Thus, when publication bias is removed, both country dummies included (oecd, latam), and the average year of the published studies are included (2005), the genuine empirical effect is predicted to equal +0.1. This prediction<sup>32</sup> is certainly larger than the effect the FAT-PET MRA found, however, it is still considered small in terms of Cohen's guidelines. Therefore, this prediction suggests that even with no publication bias in the literature, globalisation has at best a small effect on the welfare state.

#### Measure of the Welfare state

The literature suggests that the different measures of the welfare state are of importance regarding the discrepancy between the outcomes of studies, and that the choice on the dependent variable also can be crucial in explaining the differences between studies. They certainly are.

The findings in the model suggest that the different measures produce mixed results; studies using the Scruggs-measure are statistically significant and negative, while studies relying on the socxpart measure are positive and significant in the g-t-s model. When applying the socxgdp the estimate suggest a negative coefficient. This thus suggests that choice of welfare measure have an impact on the outcome. When Scruggs and socxgdp is used, results are negative, whilst socxpart produce positive results. Interestingly, the g-t-s model suggests that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See especially Doucouliagos and Paldam (2011b:20) and Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:93,98-99) for further explanation of this approach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The prediction is obtained by using the margins command in Stata: margins, at(seP=(0)oecd=(1) latam=(1) yrpublished=(2005))
two of the welfare measures are significant, Scruggs and socxpart, and thus plays an important role when choosing upon the independent variable in primary studies.

For example Kaufman and Segura-Ubiergo (2001), Avelino, et al. (2005), Brady, et al. (2005) and Burgoon (2001) relies on the socxpart-approach. All these studies find (even if not significant) positive relationship between some measures of globalisation and the welfare state when the soxcpart is employed. The findings when using the socxgdp measure is rather mixed in primary studies, but the overall finding suggests that relying on total government expenditures in terms of GDP will produce negative results.

Further, the findings of the meta-analysis suggest that the dependent variable problem certainly is real. Since the different variables produce very different results, it is of great importance for scholars and researchers to be aware of this finding. Thus, a suggestion for future researchers would be to include at least two measures of the welfare states in primary studies.

## Measure of globalisation

The discussion in the second chapter suggests that the measure of globalisation also is of importance in explaining the difference between studies. The measure of globalisation ranges, as mentioned earlier from one to six variables in the studies. It was therefore expected that these choices would have an impact on the outcome. When the KOF index of globalisation is employed the effect is negative in all models, suggesting that studies using the KOF index will report a negative effect of globalisation of welfare. The KOF variable is also significant in a one-tailed test, in the g-t-s model. When Dreher, et al. (2008) employ the KOF-index in their analysis, the globalisation welfare state effect almost always end up being negative. Kwon and Pontusson (2010) also end up with a negative estimates in their analysis when they disaggregate welfare spending over periods of time.

The total numbers of globalisation indicators are negative across all models, although only significant in model 6. This suggests that studies that include more globalisation variables tend to report more negative results. In the literature there is little consensus on the how to best capture globalisation as the independent variable (Jahn 2006). Koster (2009:159) notes that when including several variables one variable can have a positive effect, while another variable can have a negative effect, thus making the total outcome mixed, e.g. trade openness

might exhibit a positive effect, while FDI can have a negative effect. For example Ha(2009) includes six globalisation variables. In this study FDI have a negative coefficient, while capital mobility have a positive coefficient. Rudra (2002) on the other hand, using trade and capital flows as her globalisations variables, arrives at a positive effect.

Therefore, the results suggest that both the numbers of globalisation variables included and the measure of globalisation itself is of importance. Therefore, as with the welfare state, it is important for future research to include an assessment of the globalisation variable(s).

### Data structure

Several meta-analysts have considered including OLS as a specification technique as a moderator variable. However, in the meta-dataset for this thesis, almost all of the studies rely on OLS models. Therefore, motivated by the literature and statistical theory, the beckkatz variable was included to account for statistical specification technique instead in order not to "waste" available degrees of freedom.

The beckkatz variable ends up being positive, although not significant. It is suggested that using the "de facto Beck and Katz" specification can introduce a nickel-bias, and thus making the effect larger than it actually is. Kittel and Winner (2005) exclusively deals with this in their methodological "fine tuning" of the globalisation-welfare state literature in their study. They suggest that "inserting a lagged dependent variable in a model with fixed country effects indices an additional bias via the correlation between the lagged dependent variable and the individual effects" (Kittel and Winner 2005:278). Therefore, an inclusion of the de facto Beck and Katz specification will increase the partial correlation.

## Time-series-panel data vs cross-sectional data

The variable for time-series-panel data (tspd) is reported with a negative coefficient, while the cross-sectional variable ends up being positive. The cross-sectional data variable is also highly significant in the g-t-s model. This suggests that when a cross-sectional study design is used, the results tend to be in favour of the compensation hypothesis (see for example Rodrik 1998). On the other hand, when the data is a time-series-panel analysis, the effect is negative. That means that a time series panel analysis finds a negative effect. However, this observation

does not imply that researchers should rely on cross-sectional studies only. Recall that the cross-sectional studies are by definition less precise than time-series studies due to their larger standard errors.

## Year published

The yearpublished variable is common to include in meta-analysis, "as a means to account for potential trends or path dependencies in research" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:22). The year the study is published have a negative coefficient, but is not significant. This suggests a negative time trend in the globalisation-welfare state research: newer studies will report a negative effect of globalisation on the welfare state. According to Wood and Eagley (2009:463) the time a study is published can be of importance due to temporal changes in culture or other factors that affects the phenomena or it could be related to the publication practices in science.

#### Number of years

When a study includes a longer time period for the data, the results is a negative influence, although not significant. Adam, et al. (2013:207) suggest that "economic integration is a dynamic phenomenon which becomes more intense over time. Therefore it is natural to expect studies that include more recent data...to report a significantly higher negative effect".

Another explanation for the negative coefficient "is that it might reflect better data or improvements in the quality of estimates over time", if this is accepted, the MRA suggest that new data or improvements over time have not had any practical impact" (Costa-Font et. al, 2013:15) on the magnitude or interaction of globalisation.

Ha (2008:789) propose that there is a trade-off in terms of the numbers of countries and numbers of years included in an analysis. "Including more countries makes data available for fewer years, whereas including more years reduces the data on a number of countries" (Ha 2008:789). This observation is easily seen in the primary studies, cross-sectional studies includes many countries, while panel-data studies have fewer countries, but consider a longer period of time. Rodriks (1997) study, for example, have 68 countries included, however, the time period considered is an average of social expenditures of GDP over 1985-1989. The

most comprehensive study in terms of the time-series-panel data approach is the study by Rudra and Haggard (2005) that contains 57 countries over 22 years. Recall that the average study however is found to contain 24 countries over 22 years.

### Numbers of countries and regional setting

Both the country dummies are positive and have approximately similar coefficients, but are not significant. This suggests that both Latin American countries and OECD countries will have more welfare as a result of globalisation. These findings suggest that there are small differences in the direction of globalisation in mature welfare states (OECD), as well as in the more developing welfare states (Latin-America).

It would have been interesting to look at other geographical regions as well. However, recall that only 7 percent of the studies in the meta-dataset have included other countries than OECD countries. Due to limitations in data for other countries in the primary studies, the possibility of including other regions is limited in this MRA, and is therefore not included.

The total numbers of countries are negative, but not significant. When primary studies include more countries in the sample, the effect of globalisation will be negative. However, it should be noted that most of the studies using more than 20 countries relies on cross-sectional data due to data limitation. Moreover, findings from cross sectional studies are often not as suitable as time series studies to identify causal relationships, since time can be considered as an important explanatory variable (Midtbø 2000:59). Especially in regard to globalisation, time can be considered as an important explanatory variable, since globalisation is a dynamic phenomenon that develops over time.

## Left

In line with the theoretical arguments the left variable has a positive, but non-significant effect in most models. As argued the inclusion of some left variable is often connected to a subscription to the compensation hypothesis. Pierson (2001b:414-415) suggest that welfare policy is characterised by "stickiness", and that "certain courses of political development, once initiated, are hard to reverse" (Pierson 2001b:414). This stickiness or path dependency can be one explanation for why the left variable does not yield significant results.

### Study written by political scientist

If the study is written by an author with a political science background the result is negative. This implies that when a study is written by someone who is not a political scientist, the result tends to be in favour of the compensation hypothesis. The political variable is also significant in the g-t-s model thus suggesting that who actually writes the study is of importance. Therefore, the discipline bias that Adam, et al. (2013) found in their meta-analysis of globalisation and capital taxation does not seem to apply to globalisation and the welfare state literature.

## **Primary**

If the primary goal of the study is to explore the relationship between the welfare state and globalisation, a negative effect is found. On the other hand, if studies include a globalisation-welfare model, but if this model is not the primary goal of the study, a positive effect is found. This can partly be explained by the fact that studies that does not have the welfare state-globalisation nexus as their point of departure does not pay too much attention to methodological fine tuning, but merely include globalisation-welfare state as a control for robustness.

The findings provided in this analysis, are very close to the findings of Haile and Pugh (2013). In their meta-analysis of exchange rate volatility and international trade, they suggest that:

The findings are consistent with an empirical literature informed by competing perspectives which: Reduces incentives to select results of a particular sign or size and is thus consistent with an absence of publication bias; and yields estimated effects characterised not by an overall authentic or true effect but, instead, by pronounced heterogeneity (Haile and Pugh 2013:17).

The globalisation-welfare state can be said to follow the same lines. As this thesis, and, especially the MRA, has shown, the literature is "competitive", there is an absence of publication bias due to this competitiveness, and the effect is very small, yet positive, and largely driven by heterogeneity.

Summing up the overall findings and answering the research question, the results of the MRA are presented in Table 7.

Research question	Hypothesis	Finding
Q1:What is the effect of	There is an effect of	Globalisation has an effect
globalisation on the welfare	globalisation	on the welfare state, and it is
state.		positive.
Q2:Is publication bias	Publication bias is not	Publication bias is not
present, and does it affect the	present due to the	present, and does not affect
literature.	polarisation of studies	the literature
Q3:Are there systematically	There are systematically	There are certainly
differences between studies,	differences between studies	differences between the
and does it affect the	that affect the literature.	published studies, i.e.
literature.		Heterogeneity can account
		for and explain much of the
		variation and differences in
		the outcomes of published
		studies.
		studies.

# Table 7: Research Questions, Hypotheses and Outcome.

As Stanley and Doucouliagos (2012:126) note "a natural application of the MRA is to test rival theories". In chapter 2, three theories or hypothesis of both the magnitude and direction of globalisation's effect on the welfare state is presented. As seen, all of these theories have a solid research base, and has thus made it hard to draw useful conclusions in the past.

Based on the results found in this meta-analysis, it seems that economic globalisation have a small and positive effect on the welfare state. In other words, the preliminary conclusion is that economic globalisation poses no threat to the welfare state. Previous studies have also concluded that there is "no race to the bottom" in terms of welfare spending (e.g. Rodrik 1998; Avelino, et al. 2005; Garrett 1998; Ha 2008), and governments still will compensate through an enlarged role for the welfare state. However, other factors have also been considered as important for the enhanced role of the welfare state. Among others, Swank (2002), Pierson (2001a,b) and Iversen and Cusack(2000) suggest that domestic factors are more important in explaining cutbacks and restructuring in welfare spending among governments.

Although the conclusion drawn here are basically the same as the previous narrative reviews by Schulze and Ursprung (1999), who concludes that "globalisation does not appear to have given rise to any significant retrenchment of the welfare state" (Schulze and Ursprung 1999:346) and Koster (2009) who suggest that "welfare states are not necessarily in danger because of economic openness" (Koster 2009:160), This analysis have done more. First of all, an objective assessment of the relevant quantitative literature has been conducted by applying a meta-analysis. Secondly, more advanced methods than vote counting are used in order to summarize the literature, and finally, publication bias is also taken into account and tested for.

There are certainly systematically differences between the studies in this meta-analysis. As Ursprung (2008:5) suggests "it cannot be denied that methodological shortcomings may well be responsible for some of the observed discrepancies between studies that analyse closely related issues". As discussed earlier, there is no established "best practice" especially regarding the choice of the dependent variable, the welfare state, and the main independent variable of interest, globalisation. This meta-analysis has shown that these methodological differences play an important role regarding the different outcomes between studies.

Further, the analysis contributes to the research field by "offering critical prior information that can be legitimately used to shape primary econometric models." (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:132). As the MRA models has shown, several of the study characteristics are significant, suggesting that these variables systematically influence the effect in primary studies. The g-t-s approach suggests that some variables are of importance for future research on the globalisation-welfare state nexus. First of all, the measure of welfare state is important. Using time-series-panel analysis is also important, and finally, the measure of globalisation is

also a significant factor. Therefore, a "best-practice" for future research will be to rely on time series panel data. Furthermore, a critical reflection on the dependent and independent variables are necessary since they significantly affect the outcome.

When it comes to publication bias, this is not a problem in the sample of studies under scrutiny. This is an uplifting observation, given that several research areas in political science and economics are "haunted" by publication bias (Doucouliagos and Stanley (2013), and that "publication bias must be regarded as the "rule"" in empirical studies (Stanley, et al. 2008). However, given the wide polarisation of the studies used in this thesis, this is expected due to the competitive nature of the literature. Hunter and Schmidt (2004:493) note that publication bias may not exist in some literatures, and this MRA is one example of this.

The last few years it has been quiet from the research field as shown by the relatively few studies published after 2008 in table 2. New and improved data, however, have started the debate again. A recent trend is to focus on replacement rates as the dependent variable, instead of the traditional measure of government expenditures of GDP committed to welfare. In addition resent scholarship has started to use Scruggs index based on the classical work of Esping-Andersen. The measure of globalisation has also been subjected to further investigation, for example though the updating of the KOF-index of globalisation. Furthermore, the scholarship of e.g. Koster (2014) and Schaffer and Spilker (2009) have investigated how the micro-level, i.e. individual's attitudes towards welfare in a globalised world are. For future meta-analyses and researchers this new literature certainly will be interesting.

The results of this meta-analysis are very clear-cut. Although a small effect is found, it should be noted that the results of any MRA can change over time "because the underlying relationships have changed over time and/or because new estimators and MRA modelling developments find something different" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:134). Especially regarding the latter, an encompassing best practice in terms of MRA modelling is not yet in place. The thesis has relied on state-of-the-art methods of MRA at this stage, but these methods might change when more research on the underlying statistical assumptions of MRA is offered for future meta-analysts. An illustrative example of this is the change from relying on fixed effects to WLS modelling of MRA. Since the globalisation-welfare state literature has a solid research base and is quite mature and established, the presented sample is representative for the research. However, globalisation is a dynamic phenomenon; therefore a challenge for this meta-analysis is to keep "up to date" with new publications on the field. Therefore, what is valid in this meta-analysis might change over time especially regarding the "true empirical effect", but also publication bias.

Another important question to ask is whether or not domestic policies are shaped by an exogenous factor like globalisation, and if policy makers should pursue globalisation friendly policies or not . Hunter and Schmidt (2004:29) argue that "by providing the best available empirically based answers to socially important questions, meta-analysis can influence public policy making". This MRA, has shown at best that globalisation have a small, positive effect on the welfare state. Substantially, this means that when the welfare state is met by globalisation governments will compensate those harmed by globalisation (cf. Rodrik 1998); therefore, globalisation is "good" for the welfare state.

This section has presented the results for the overall meta-regression analysis assessment. First, the results suggest that there is a small positive effect of globalisation on the welfare state (Q1). Secondly, no publication bias can be found in the meta-data sample (Q2) and thirdly, there are systematically differences between studies (Q3). Furthermore, the MRA suggests that some moderator variables are more important than others. Interestingly two of these variables are related to the dependent variable in primary studies. In the next section the practical significance of the findings are discussed more in-depth

# Chapter Seven: The "Practical" Significance of the MRA

This section includes a discussion of the practical significance of the findings. The overall finding suggests that governments do not have to reduce welfare when met by globalisation as the efficiency hypothesis predicts. Since the effect itself is found to be relatively small, even without publication bias, additional factors that might be of importance for an expansion of the welfare state are also discussed.

McCloskey (1985, 1995) has suggested that there is a distinction between statistical and economic importance/practical significance and that quantitative methods often overlook the practical importance of statistical findings. The discussion above can be said to be a discussion of the statistical significance. Although the findings suggest that there is a non-statistical and small effect of globalisation welfare, the effect is still found to be positive. In the following section, the practical significance of the findings is discussed, that is, what a positive relationship between globalisation and the welfare state actually implies.

First of all, it should be mentioned that a practical significance is found by the statistical significance of the analysis is present. This is related to the methodological framework. Since "a meta-analysis shines light on the research process itself, it can also guide new and original primary econometric analysis" (Stanley and Doucouliagos 2012:150). Especially the significant moderator variables demonstrate that it makes a difference when authors use different dependent and independent variables in their research.

As argued by the efficiency hypothesis, governments will reduce capital taxation when met by globalisation, thus lowering the tax base available for governments, and as a consequence the result is a reduction of welfare. Therefore the efficiency hypothesis suggests that globalisation will have a direct negative effect on taxation policies and consequentially on the welfare state. This argument is thus related to how governments will act. They can either choose to reduce capital taxation, or not. The question is therefore if it is necessary for governments to reduce capital taxation to attract international investments.

Mosley (2005) has suggested that there are some ideological and methodological reasons for why the efficiency hypothesis still is considered as a possible explanation "despite the accumulation of empirical evidence against the [it]" (Mosley 2005:359-360). First of all, the

ideological reason suggests that globalisation is a useful scapegoat for politicians striving for neoliberal policy change. If politicians want to change policies, they can convince voters that they have reduce welfare since globalisations give them no other option. The methodological reason is that it is "quite easy to find instances of governments cutting social programs or lowering taxes" (Mosley 2005:360).

Since the MRA has not found any support to the efficiency hypothesis, a natural turn to the compensation thesis follows. The compensation thesis argues that the welfare state will benefit from a rise in globalization. This assumption rest on two casual mechanisms according to Iversen and Cusack:

First, trade and capital market integration is said to expose domestic economies to greater real economic volatility, which implies higher income and employment risks for workers. Second, greater labor-market risks are hypnotized to generate political demands for expansionary spending policies that will cushion and compensate people for such risks. (Iversen and Cusack 2000:317)

Therefore, the findings suggest that governments will have an important role in mitigating the negative challenges globalization brings about.

Hay (2001:54-57) have highlighted some of the positive externalities for the compensation hypothesis on the welfare state. First of all, high levels of social expenditures will enhance economic stability. Unemployment benefits tend to increase demands in times of recessions. Transfer payments to the working class can stimulate consumption, therefore, "governments that inject demand into the economy during times of recession, are likely to facilitate macroeconomic stabilization across the economic cycle" (Hay 2001:54), public housing can boost consumption since subsidization or provision of housing frees capital for consumption, thereby raising the demand within the economy. With an enlargement of the public sector and health-care sector support for (especially) women employment increases, thus increasing the labour supply and productivity, in addition to easing the fiscal pressure generated by demographic change, since the ratio between welfare contributors to net welfare recipients will increase. Through training and education, human capital is enhanced. Since the skill level of the economy in the era of heightened competitiveness is essential, the welfare state have an

important role in providing training and skills that are necessary for the economy. (Hay 2001:56). Health provided by the state, can also reduce both social stratification and decrease the volume of health care costs.

Although the effect is found to be positive in the MRA, it is considered as quite small according to Cohen's guidelines. Furthermore, the FAT-PET-MRA finds no true empirical effect of globalization on the welfare state. In their meta-analysis of globalisations effect on capital taxation, which is the most comparable meta-analysis to the issue in this thesis, Adam, et al. 2013 also provide evidence that globalisation does not have a "true" empirical effect on capital taxation. Therefore, other explanations in combination with the compensation hypothesis can be offered. The sceptic hypothesis presented in chapter 2 provides some alternative explanations that can be considered.

First, the political incentives to expand welfare must also be taken into account. This is based on the more partisan perspective of welfare expansion presented by among others Garrett and Huber and Stephens. According to this view, globalisation will generate political incentives for in support of larger government spending due to economic insecurity and increased inequality (Garrett 2001:6). "Political support for the public economy remains very high—all the more so when citizens feel that globalization is threatening their traditional quality of life" (Brune and Garrett 2005:419). Furthermore, "social policies will always be feasible if the population at large is in favour of an extended welfare state" (Schulze and Ursprung 1999:346). Therefore, as again, the literature and the MRA result suggest, left power can be considered as a sufficient, but not necessary condition for welfare state growth.

However, other scholars have suggested that political partisanship does not matter that much for welfare spending. Both due to the popularity of the welfare state, and the welfare state`s inherently path dependent nature, as discussed by Pierson (2001a,b).

Genschel (2004:632) notes that globalisation is not irrelevant, but that "political reactions to globalisation are not entirely pre-programmed by globalisation itself but also depend on domestic structures". These domestic structures can also be taken into consideration when explaining welfare state outcomes. The list of these structures is very long, and many variables can be considered as important. It is argued that production regimes (Hall and Soskice 2001) different "worlds of welfare" (Esping-Andersen 1990), and political

institutions (Swank 2002) also can play a large role in welfare state preferences amongst governments.

Veto-players can also be important for policy change (see Tsebelis 1995) since veto-players can play a pivotal role in the relationship between welfare spending and globalisation (Ha 2009:784). In her study, Ha (2009:804) suggest that more veto players and "increased ideological distance among them reduce the upward pressure of globalisation on welfare spending. Swank (2002:34-35) also suggest that veto points are of importance. Swank (2002:279) further suggest that political institutions are of importance for shaping welfare state preferences, "namely the structure of the system of collective action groups…electoral representation…the structure of decision making authority and the structure of welfare state institutions."

Pierson (2001a,b) has put strong emphasis on socioeconomic changes within countries as the most important determinants of welfare state growth. He does however, make clear that globalisation is and important aspect to take into account, but Pierson (2001a:82-99) suggest that the slowdown in productivity, demographic shifts (i.e. people getting older), the maturation of welfare states and the changes in household structures are more important than globalisation.

Iversen and Cusack (2000) have emphasised the change in the work structure, i.e. deindustrialisation, as the most important factor for the growth of the welfare state and risks in the labour market. The change from manufacturing industry to service have resulted in a reduction of the possibility to "travel" across sectors (Iversen and Cusack:324-327) and thus creating a risk that only can be addressed "through government expansion of social security and public economy" (Iversen and Cusack 2000:346).

It is hard to say if governments actually will increase welfare spending, since this choice ultimately will rest on several other mechanisms. For example Swank (2002:38) suggest that globalisation "enhances the appeal of policy preferences of Right parties...neoliberal economists and other proponents of neoliberal orthodoxy" which again can be linked to cutbacks in welfare spending. Therefore, the ideological motives for a potential reduction in welfare can be considered as important. However, the overall findings suggest that governments at least have the ability to increase welfare spending in the era of globalisation.

#### **Some Concluding Remarks**

This thesis overall aim has been to investigate economic globalisations effect on the welfare state. The theoretical literature on this area is very inconclusive and polarised and there is no consensus among scholars about the effect. By applying MRA as the methodological framework to 33 studies, with 417 corresponding comparable estimates, several important findings are found:

First of all, the overall effect of globalisation on the welfare state has been investigated. According to the literature there are three possible outcomes of the effect of globalisation on the welfare state. The welfare state is either increased, reduced, or there is no effect.

Through MRA, the evidence suggests that there is an effect of globalisation on the welfare state, and that the effect is positive, although the effect is considered as small, and of relatively little practical significance. Nevertheless, a small positive effect is found, therefore the findings can be said to have found support for the compensation hypothesis.

The most important contributions of this thesis however, are the investigation of publication bias and heterogeneity across studies. The issue of publication bias has been addressed through a graphical interpretation and statistical methods. Given the wide polarisation of studies in the globalisation-welfare state field, an incentive to prefer one side of the debate over the other was considered not to exist. Through the funnel plot, the FAT-PET-MRA and the multiple MRA, the empirical evidence suggests that this is true. Publication bias in the globalisation-welfare state literature is not found.

Thirdly, the issue of heterogeneity has been addressed through multiple MRAs. Theoretically, this is shown in the relatively large span of studies investigating the same phenomenon, but reach very different conclusions. By including a multiple MRA framework with moderator variables that are considered to be important, the findings are that there is large heterogeneity across studies, and that some of these moderator variables are shown to be of great importance for future research.

The thesis has contributed to the scholarly field by applying meta-analysis to a topic that has not been meta-analysed before. Moreover, the findings suggest some fields that needs more research. One focus could be on the domestic factors that increase or reduce welfare spending. Especially, qualitative case study research might focus on specific globalisation friendly/unfriendly policies in countries with high/low levels of globalisation. For quantitative research, on the other hand, a "best-practice" in welfare – globalisation research also needs further attention from scholars. The well-known "independent variable problem" needs to be taken seriously. As the multiple MRA has shown especially the dependent variable is of high importance for the result when modelling globalisation-welfare state regressions. Therefore, more effort is needed in the future to address the independent variable problem. Moreover, the MRA suggest that further research is needed on Latin American countries and other less developed countries. A large proportion of the studies (93 percent) included in this thesis are based on OECD countries with mature welfare states. Therefore a suggestion for future research would be to take a closer look at the globalisation-welfare state relationship in other countries than those of the OECD.

It seems plausible that Goldfarb (1995) suggestion was right. The globalisation – welfare state literature has followed a time trend and reproduced itself in a time-circle when it comes to the result. Closing the circle, the evidence from this thesis suggest that we can go back to the seminal works of Cameron (1978) and Katzenstein (1985), who did indeed suggest that globalisation is good for the welfare state.

## References

Studies preceded by an asterisk (\*) were included in the meta-analysis.

- Abdullah, A., H. Doucouliagos, and E. Manning. 2013. "Does Education Reduce Income Inequality? A Meta-Regression Analysis." *Journal of Economic Surveys* 0: 1–16.
- Adam, A., P. Kammas, and A. Lagou. 2013. "The Effect of Globalization on Capital Taxation: What Have We Learned after 20 Years of Empirical Studies?". Journal of Macroeconomics 35: 199-209.
- Allan, James P., and Lyle Scruggs. 2004. "Political Partisanship and Welfare State Reform in Advanced Industrial Societies." *American Journal of Political Science* 48: 496-512.
- Askarov, Z., and H. Doucouliagos. 2013. "Does Aid Improve Democracy and Governance? A Meta-Regression Analysis." *Public Choice* 157: 601-28.
- (\*)Avelino, G., D. S. Brown, and W. Hunter. 2005. "The Effects of Capital Mobility, Trade Openness, and Democracy on Social Spending in Latin America, 1980-1999." *American Journal of Political Science* 49: 625-41.
- Beck, N., and J. N. Katz. 2001. "Throwing out the Baby with the Bath Water: A Comment on Green, Kim, and Yoon." *International Organization* 55: 487-95.
- Begg, C. B., and J. A. Berlin. 1988. "Publication Bias a Problem in Interpreting Medical Data." *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series a-Statistics in Society* 151: 419-63.
- (\*)Brady, D., J. Beckfield, and M. Seeleib-Kaiser. 2005. "Economic Globalization and the Welfare State in Affluent Democracies, 1975-2001." *American Sociological Review* 70: 921-48.
- (\*)Brady, D., and H. Y. Lee. 2014. "The Rise and Fall of Government Spending in Affluent Democracies, 1971–2008." *Journal of European Social Policy* 24: 56-79.
- (\*)Bretschger, L., and F. Hettich. 2002. "Globalisation, Capital Mobility and Tax Competition: Theory and Evidence for Oecd Countries." *European Journal of Political Economy* Volume 18: 695-716.
- Brodeur, A., M. Lé, M. Sangnier, and Y. Zylberberg. 2013. "Star Wars: The Empirics Strike Back." In *IZA Discussion Papers No. 7268.* Germany: Forschungsinstitut zur Zukunft der Arbeit
- Brune, N., and G. Garrett. 2005. "The Globalization Rorschach Test: International Economic Integration, Inequality, and the Role of Government." *Annual Review of Political Science* 8: 399-423.
- (\*)Burgoon, B. 2001. "Globalization and Welfare Compensation: Disentangling the Ties That Bind." *International Organization* 55: 509-51.
- (\*)Busemeyer, M. R. 2009. "From Myth to Reality: Globalisation and Public Spending in Oecd Countries Revisited." *European Journal of Political Research* 48: 455-82.
- Callot, L., and M. Paldam. 2010. "Natural Funnel Asymmetries: A Simulation Analysis of the Three Basic Tools of Meta Analysis " In *Univ. of Aarhus Working Paper No. 2010-1*. Aarhus: Aarhus University.
- Cameron, D. R. 1978. "The Expansion of the Public Economy: A Comparative Analysis.". *American Political Science Review* 72: 1243-61.
- Card, N. A. 2012. *Applied Meta-Analysis for Social Science Research*, Methodology in the Social Sciences. New York: Guilford Press.

- Castles, F. G., and S. Leibfried, eds. 2010. *The Oxford Handbook of the Welfare State*. Edited by F. G. Castles and S. Leibfried, Oxford Handbooks in Political Science & International Relations. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Clasen, J., and N. A. Siegel. 2007a. *Investigating Welfare State Change : The 'Dependent Variable Problem' in Comparative Analysis*. Edited by J. Clasen and N. A. Siegel. Cheltenham, UK ; Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar.
  - —. 2007b. "Comparative Welfare State Analysis and the "Dependent Variable Problem"." In *Investigating Welfare State Change: The'dependent Variable Problem'in Comparative Analysis.*, eds. J. Clasen and N. A. Siegel. England: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Cohen, J. 1988. *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, N. J.: Laurence Erlbaum.
- Costa-Font, J., F. De-Albuquerque, and H. Doucouliagos. 2014. "Do Jurisdictions Compete on Taxes? A Meta-Regression Analysis." *Public Choice*: 1-20.
- Doucouliagos, H., P. Laroche, and T. D. Stanley. 2005. "Publication Bias in Union-Productivity Research?". *Relations Industrielles-Industrial Relations* 60: 320-47.
- Doucouliagos, H., and M. Paldam. 2008. "Aid Effectiveness on Growth: A Meta Study." *European Journal of Political Economy* 24: 1-24.
  - ——. 2009. "The Aid Effectiveness Literature: The Sad Results of 40 Years of Research." Journal of Economic Surveys 23: 433-61.
- ———. 2011a. "The Ineffectiveness of Development Aid on Growth: An Update." *European Journal of Political Economy* 27: 399-404.
  - ——. 2011b. "The Robust Result in Meta-Analysis of Aid Effectiveness: A Response to Mekasha and Tarp ". *Economics Working Paper 2011-15*.
- ———. 2013. "The Robust Result in Meta-Analysis of Aid Effectiveness: A Response to Mekasha and Tarp." *Journal of Development Studies* 49: 584-87.
- Doucouliagos, H., and T. D. Stanley. 2013. "Are All Economic Facts Greatly Exaggerated? Theory Competition and Selectivity." *Journal of Economic Surveys* 27: 316-39.
- Doucouliagos, H., and M. A. Ulubasoglu. 2008a. "Democracy and Economic Growth: A Meta-Analysis." *American Journal of Political Science* 52: 61-83.
- Dreher, A. 2006a. "Does Globalization Affect Growth? Evidence from a New Index of Globalization." *Applied Economics* 38: 1091-110.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 2006b. "The Influence of Globalization on Taxes and Social Policy: An Empirical Analysis for Oecd Countries." *European Journal of Political Economy* 22: 179-201.
- (\*)Dreher, A., J. E. Sturm, and H. W. Ursprung. 2008. "The Impact of Globalization on the Composition of Government Expenditures: Evidence from Panel Data." *Public Choice* 134: 263-92.
- Efendic, A., G. Pugh, and N. Adnett. 2011. "Institutions and Economic Performance: A Meta-Regression Analysis." *European Journal of Political Economy* 27: 586-99.
- Egger, M, GD Smith, M Schneider, and C Minder. 1997. "Bias in Meta-Analysis Detected by a Simple, Graphical Test." *BMJ* 315: 629 34.
- Esping-Andersen, G. 1990. *The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism*. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.
- Feld, L. P., and J. H. Heckemeyer. 2011. "Fdi and Taxation: A Meta-Study." *Journal of Economic Surveys* 25: 233-72.

- (\*)Garrett, G. 1995. "Capital Mobility, Trade, and the Domestic Politics of Economic-Policy." *International Organization* 49: 657-&.
- (\*)—. 1998. *Partisan Politics in the Global Economy*, Cambridge Studies in Comparative Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
  - ——. 2000. "The Causes of Globalization." *Comparative Political Studies* 33: 941-91.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 2001. "Globalization and Government Spending around the World." *Studies in Comparative International Development* 35: 3-29.
- Garrett, G., and D. Mitchell. 2001. "Globalization, Government Spending and Taxation in the Oecd." *European Journal of Political Research* 39: 145-77.
- (\*)Gemmell, N., R. Kneller, and I. Sanz. 2008. "Foreign Investment, International Trade and the Size and Structure of Public Expenditures." *European Journal of Political Economy* 24: 151-71.
- Genschel, P. 2004. "Globalization and the Welfare State: A Retrospective." *Journal of European Public Policy* 11: 613-36.
- Gerber, A., and N. Malhotra. 2008. "Do Statistical Reporting Standards Affect What Is Published? Publication Bias in Two Leading Political Science Journals." *Quarterly Journal of Political Science* 3: 313-26.
- Giles, M. W., and J. C. Garand. 2007. "Ranking Political Science Journals: Reputational and Citational Approaches." *PS: Political Science & Politics* 40: 741-51.
- (\*)Gizelis, T. I. 2005. "Globalization, Integration, and the European Welfare State." *International Interactions* 31: 139-62.
- Glyn, A. 2006. *Capitalism Unleashed : Finance Globalization and Welfare*. Oxford ; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Goldfarb, R. S. 1995. "The Economist-as-Audience Needs a Methodology of Plausible Inference." *Journal of Economic Methodology* 2: 201-22.
- Green-Pedersen, C. 2004. "The Dependent Variable Problem within the Study of Welfare State Retrenchment: Defining the Problem and Looking for Solutions." *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice* 6: 3-14.
- Green, D. P., S. Y. Kim, and D. H. Yoon. 2001. "Dirty Pool." International Organization 55: 441-+.
- Greenberg, D. H., C. Michalopoulos, and P. K. Robins. 2003. "A Meta-Analysis of Government-Sponsored Training Programs." *Industrial & Labor Relations Review* 57: 31-53.
- (\*)Ha, E. Y. 2008. "Globalization, Veto Players, and Welfare Spending." *Comparative Political Studies* 41: 783-813.
- Ha, E. Y., and G. Tsebelis. 2010. "Globalization and Welfare: Which Causes Which?" Paper presented at the APSA 2010 Annual Meeting.
- Haile, M. G., and G. Pugh. 2013. "Does Exchange Rate Volatility Discourage International Trade? A Meta-Regression Analysis." *Journal of International Trade & Economic Development* 22: 321-50.
- Hall, P. A., and D. W. Soskice. 2001. Varieties of Capitalism : The Institutional Foundations of Comparative Advantage. Oxford England ; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Harris, R. J., M. J. Bradburn, J. J. Deeks, R. M. Harbord, D. G. Altman, and J. A. C. Sterne. 2009. "Metan: Fixed- and Random-Effects Meta-Analysis." In *Meta-Analysis in Stata: An Updated Collection from the Stata Journal*, ed. J. A.C Sterne. Texas: Stata Press 29-55.
- Hay, C. 2001. "Globalization, Economic Change and the Welfare State: The "Vexatious Inquisition of Taxation"?" In *Globalization and European Welfare States : Challenges and Change*, eds. R. Sykes, B. Palier, P. Prior and J. Campling. New York: Palgrave. 38-59.

- Hedges, L. V., and I. Olkin. 1985. *Statistical Methods for Meta-Analysis*. Orlando: Academic Press.
- Hox, J. J. 2010. *Multilevel Analysis : Techniques and Applications*. 2nd ed, Quantitative Methodology Series. New York: Routledge.
- (\*)Huber, E., T. Mustillo, and J. D. Stephens. 2008. "Politics and Social Spending in Latin America." *Journal of Politics* 70: 420-36.
- Huber, E., C. Ragin, and J. D. Stephens. 1993. "Social-Democracy, Christian Democracy, Constitutional Structure, and the Welfare-State." *American Journal of Sociology* 99: 711-49.
- Huber, E., and J. D. Stephens. 2001. *Development and Crisis of the Welfare State : Parties and Policies in Global Markets*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Hunter, J. E., and F. L. Schmidt. 2000. "Fixed Effects Vs. Random Effects Meta-Analysis Models: Implications for Cumulative Research Knowledge." *International Journal of Selection and Assessment* 8: 275-92.
- ———. 2004. *Methods of Meta-Analysis : Correcting Error and Bias in Research Findings*. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage.
- (\*)Iversen, T., and T. R. Cusack. 2000. "The Causes of Welfare State Expansion Deindustrialization or Globalization?". *World Politics* 52: 313-49.
- Iversen, T., and D. Soskice. 2009. "Distribution and Redistribution the Shadow of the Nineteenth Century." *World Politics* 61: 438-+.
- Jahn, D. 2003. "Globalisierung Als Galton-Problem." In Vergleichende Politikwissenschaftliche Methoden, eds. S. Pickel, G. Pickel, H. J. Lauth and D. Jahn: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften. 59-86.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 2006. "Globalization as 'Galton's Problem': The Missing Link in the Analysis of Diffusion Patterns in Welfare State Development." *International Organization* 60: 401-31.
- (\*)Jensen, C. 2011a. "Conditional Contraction: Globalisation and Capitalist Systems." *European Journal of Political Research* 50: 168-89.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 2011b. "Negotiated Expansion: Left-Wing Governments, Corporatism and Social Expenditure in Mature Welfare States." *Comparative European Politics* 9: 168-90.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 2011c. "Catching up by Transition: Globalization as a Generator of Convergence in Social Spending." *Journal of European Public Policy* 18: 106-21.
- (\*)Jensen, C., C. Knill, K. Schulze, and J. Tosun. 2014. "Giving Less by Doing More? Dynamics of Social Policy Expansion and Dismantling in 18 Oecd Countries." *Journal of European Public Policy* 21: 528-48.
- Katzenstein, P. J. 1985. *Small States in World Markets / Industrial Policy in Europe*, Cornell Studies in Political Economy. Ithaca, N.Y.,: Cornell University Press.
- (\*)Kaufman, R. R., and A. Segura-Ubiergo. 2001. "Globalization, Domestic Politics, and Social Spending in Latin America - a Time-Series Cross-Section Analysis, 1973-97." *World Politics* 53: 553-+.
- Kite, C. 2002. "The Globalized, Generous Welfare State: Possibility or Oxymoron?". *European Journal of Political Research* 41: 307-43.
- (\*)Kittel, B., and H. Obinger. 2003. "Political Parties, Institutions, and the Dynamics of Social Expenditure in Times of Austerity." *Journal of European Public Policy* 10: 20-45.
- Kittel, B., and H. Winner. 2005. "How Reliable Is Pooled Analysis in Political Economy? The Globalization-Welfare State Nexus Revisited." *European Journal of Political Research* 44: 269-93.

- Korpi, W. 1989. "Power, Politics, and State Autonomy in the Development of Social Citizenship - Social Rights During Sickness in 18 Oecd Countries since 1930." *American Sociological Review* 54: 309-28.
- Korpi, W., and J. Palme. 2003. "New Politics and Class Politics in the Context of Austerity and Globalization: Welfare State Regress in 18 Countries, 1975–95." *American Political Science Review* 97: 425-46.
- Koster, F. 2009. "The Welfare State and Globalisation: Down and out or Too Tough to Die?". *International Journal of Social Welfare* 18: 153-62.
  - 2014. "Economic Openness and Welfare State Attitudes: A Multilevel Study across 67 Countries." *International Journal of Social Welfare* 23: 128-38.
- (\*)Kwon, H. Y., and J. Pontusson. 2010. "Globalization, Labour Power and Partisan Politics Revisited." *Socio-Economic Review* 8: 251-81.
- Ludvigsen, S.S. 2010. Post-Mortem of the Vp-Function?: Meta-Regression Analysis of Economic Voting in the United Kingdom - an Anthology : Phd Dissertation. Aarhus: Politica.
- McCloskey, D. N. 1985. "The Loss Function Has Been Mislaid the Rhetoric of Significance Tests." *American Economic Review* 75: 201-05.
- ———. 1995. "The Insignificance of Statistical Significance." *Scientific American* 272: 32-33.
- Mekasha, T. J., and F. Tarp. 2013. "Aid and Growth: What Meta-Analysis Reveals." *Journal of Development Studies* 49: 564-83.
- Midtbø, T. 2000. "Et Spørsmål Om Tid: Tidsserieanalyse Som Et Verktøy I Samfunnsvitenskapen." *Tidsskrift for samfunnsforskning*: 58-84.
  - ——. 2007. *Regresjonsanalyse for Samfunnsvitere : Med Eksempler I Spss.* Oslo: Universitetsforl.
  - ——. 2012. Stata : En Entusiastisk Innføring. Oslo: Universitetsforl.
- Moreno, S., A. J. Sutton, A.E. Ades, T.D. Stanley, K. Abrams, J. Peters, and N. Cooper. 2009. "Assessment of Regression-Based Methods to Adjust for Publication Bias through a Comprehensive Simulation Study." *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 9: 2.
- Mosley, L. 2005. "Globalisation and the State: Still Room to Move?". *New Political Economy* 10: 355-62.
- Navarro, V., J. Schmitt, and J. Astudillo. 2004. "Is Globalisation Undermining the Welfare State?". *Cambridge Journal of Economics* 28: 133-52.
- Nelson, J. P., and P. E. Kennedy. 2009. "The Use (and Abuse) of Meta-Analysis in Environmental and Natural Resource Economics: An Assessment." *Environmental and Resource Economics* 42: 345-77.
- Obinger, H., and U. Wagschal. 2010. "Social Expenditure and Revenue." In *The Oxford Handbook of the Welfare State* ed. S. Leibfried F. G. Castles, J. Lewis, H. Obinger, and C. Pierson Oxford.
- OECD. 2012. "Social Expenditure: Reference Series." In OECD Social Expenditure Statistics (database). ed. OECD: OECD.
- Paldam, M. 2013. "Stata Commands." <u>http://www.martin.paldam.dk/Papers/Meta-AEL/Statacommands.pdf</u>. [01.06.2014]
- Pierson, C., and F. G. Castles. 2006. The Welfare State Reader. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Polity.
- Pierson, P. 1994. *Dismantling the Welfare State? : Reagan, Thatcher, and the Politics of Retrenchment*, Cambridge Studies in Comparative Politics. New York: Cambridge University Press.

- 2001a. "Post-Industrual Preassure on the Mature Welfare State" In *The New Politics of the Welfare State* eds. P.Pierson Oxford England; New York: Oxford University Press. 80-107
- 2001b. "Coping with Permanent Austerity: Welfare State Restructuring in Affluent Democracies" In *The New Politics of the Welfare State* eds. P.Pierson Oxford England ; New York: Oxford University Press.410-457
- Plumper, T., V. E. Troeger, and P. Manow. 2005. "Panel Data Analysis in Comparative Politics: Linking Method to Theory." *European Journal of Political Research* 44: 327-54.
- Podesta, F. 2006. "Comparing Time Series Cross-Section Model Specifications: The Case of Welfare State Development." *Quality & Quantity* 40: 539-59.
- (\*)Potrafke, N. 2009. "Did Globalization Restrict Partisan Politics? An empirical Evaluation of Social Expenditures in a Panel Of oecd Countries." *Public Choice* 140: 105-24.
- Przeworski, A., and M. Wallerstein. 1988. "Structural Dependence of the State on Capital." *American Political Science Review* 82: 11-29.
- (\*)Rickard, S. J. 2012. "Welfare Versus Subsidies: Governmental Spending Decisions in an Era of Globalization." *Journal of Politics* 74: 1171-83.
- (\*)Rodrik, D. 1997. *Has Globalization Gone Too Far?* Washington, D.C.: Institute for International Economics.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 1998. "Why Do More Open Economies Have Bigger Governments?". *Journal of Political Economy* 106: 997-1032.
- Rose, A. K., and T. D. Stanley. 2005. "A Meta-Analysis of the Effect of Common Currencies on International Trade." *Journal of Economic Surveys* 19: 347-65.
- Rosenthal, R. 1979. "The File Drawer Problem and Tolerance for Null Results." *Psychological Bulletin* 86: 638-41.
- Rosenthal, R., and M. R. DiMatteo. 2001. "Meta-Analysis: Recent Developments in Quantitative Methods for Literature Reviews." Annual Review of Psychology 52: 59-82.
- (\*)Rudra, N. 2002. "Globalization and the Decline of the Welfare State in Less-Developed Countries." *International Organization* 56: 411-+.
- (\*)Rudra, N., and S. Haggard. 2005. "Globalization, Democracy, and Effective Welfare Spending in the Developing World." *Comparative Political Studies* 38: 1015-49.
- Schaffer, L., and G. Spilker. 2009. "Adding Another Level: Individual Responses to Globalization and Government Welfare Policies." Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the International Political Economy Society.
- Schulze, G. G., and H. W. Ursprung. 1999. "Globalisation of the Economy and the Nation State." *World Economy* 22: 295-352.
- Scruggs, L., and J. Allan. 2006. "Welfare-State Decommodification in 18 Oecd Countries: A Replication and Revision." *Journal of European Social Policy* 16: 55-72.
- Scruggs, L., D. Jahn, and K. Kuitto. 2014. "Comparative Welfare Entitlements Dataset 2.", eds. L. Scruggs, D. Jahn and K. Kuitto., Version 2014-03 ed. University of Connecticut & University of Greifswald.
- Stanley, T. D. 2001. "Wheat from Chaff: Meta-Analysis as Quantitative Literature Review." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 15: 131-50.
  - ——. 2005. "Beyond Publication Bias." Journal of Economic Surveys 19: 309-45.

-. 2013."Be Rigorous"

http://www.hendrix.edu/uploadedFiles/Departments\_and\_Programs/Business\_and\_Ec\_onomics/AMAES/Be%20Rigorous%283%29.pdf. [01.06.2014]

- Stanley, T. D., and H. Doucouliagos. 2012. Meta-Regression Analysis in Economics and Business, Routledge Advances in Research Methods. London and New York: Routledge.
  - 2013a. "Better Than Random : Weighted Least Squares Meta-Regression Analysis." In SWP Economics Series 2013\_2., Faculty of Business and Law, School of Accounting, Economics and Finance.: Deakin University.
  - ——. 2013b. "Neither Fixed nor Random: Weighted Least Squares Meta-Analysis." In SWP Economics Series 2013-1, Faculty of Business and Law, School of Accounting, Economics and Finance.: Deakin University.
- Stanley, T. D., H. Doucouliagos, M. Giles, J. H. Heckemeyer, R. J. Johnston, P. Laroche, J. P. Nelson, M. Paldam, J. Poot, G. Pugh, R. S. Rosenberger, and K. Rost. 2013. "Meta-Analysis of Economics Research Reporting Guidelines." *Journal of Economic Surveys* 27: 390-94.
- Stanley, T. D., H. Doucouliagos, and S. B. Jarrell. 2008. "Meta-Regression Analysis as the Socio-Economics of Economics Research." *The Journal of Socio-Economics* 37: 276-92.
- Stanley, T. D., and S. B. Jarrell. 1989. "Meta-Regression Analysis: A Quantitative Method of Literature Surveys." *Journal of Economic Surveys* 3: 161-70.
- ———. 1998. "Gender Wage Discrimination Bias? A Meta-Regression Analysis." *Journal* of Human Resources 33: 947-73.
- ———. 2005. "Meta-Regression Analysis: A Quantitative Method of Literature Surveys." Journal of Economic Surveys 19: 299-308.
- Stegenga, J. 2011. "Is Meta-Analysis the Platinum Standard of Evidence?". *Stud Hist Philos Biol Biomed Sci* 42: 497-507.
- Steinmo, S. 1994. "The End of Redistribution? International Pressures and Domestic Tax Policy Choices." *Challenge* 37: 9-17.
- Sterne, J. A. C. 2009. "Meta Analysis in Stata : An Updated Collection from the Stata Journal." Strata Press.
- Sterne, J.A.C., M. Egger, and D. Moher. 2011. "Addressing Reporting Biases." In *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* eds. J.P.T Higgins and S. Green.
- Sutton, A. J., K.R. Abrams, D.R. Jones, T.A. Sheldon, and F Song. 2000. *Methods for Meta-Analysis in Medical Research*, Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics. Chichester: Wiley.
- (\*)Swank, D. 2001. "Mobile Capital, Democratic Institutions, and the Public Economy in Advanced Industrial Societies." *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis* 3: 133.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 2002. Global Capital, Political Institutions, and Policy Change in Developed Welfare States, Cambridge Studies in Comparative Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- (\*)—\_\_\_\_. 2005. "Globalisation, Domestic Politics, and Welfare State Retrenchment in Capitalist Democracies." *Social Policy and Society* 4: 183-95.
- Therborn, G. 2000. "Globalizations Dimensions, Historical Waves, Regional Effects, Normative Governance." *International Sociology* 15: 151-79.
- Tsebelis, G. 1995. "Decision-Making in Political-Systems Veto Players in Presidentialism, Parliamentarism, Multicameralism and Multipartyism." *British Journal of Political Science* 25: 289-325.

- Ursprung, H. W. 2008. "Globalization and the Welfare State." In *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics Online.*, eds. S. N. Durlauf and L. E. Blume. Vol. 2013: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Wilson, D. B. 2001. "Meta-Analytic Methods for Criminology." Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 578: 71-89.
- Wolf, F. M. 1986. *Meta-Analysis : Quantitative Methods for Research Synthesis*, Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences. Beverly Hills, Calif.: Sage.
- Wood, W , and A Eagley. 2009. "Advantages of Certainty and Uncertainty." In *The Handbook of Research Synthesis and Meta-Analysis* eds. L. V. Hedges, H. M. Cooper, J. C. Valentine and P. M. Baxter, 2nd ed. New York: Russell Sage Foundation. 455-73.
- Øverbye, E. 2010. "Disciplinary Perspectives." In *The Oxford Handbook of the Welfare State, Online*, ed. S. Leibfried, F. G. Castles, J. Lewis, H. Obinger, and C. Pierson. Oxford: Oxford University Press.





Figure A-1: Q-norm plot of partial correlation vs inverse normal.



Figure A-2: Scatter plot with of partial correlations linear regression fitted

Figure A-3: Search Protocol for Inclusion of Studies



Tale A-2: OLS multiple regression				
	(1)			
	olsreg			
VARIABLES	partial_correlation			
sePartiall	-1.02			
	(-3.12)			
globindcator	-0.00			
-	(-0.40)			
noyears	-0.00			
	(-1.47)			
oecd	0.08			
	(2.11)			
latam	0.10			
	(3.54)			
left	0.07			
	(2.84)			
yrpublished	-0.01			
	(-2.31)			
nocountries	0.00			
	(0.09)			
socsecgdp	-0.07			
	(-3.32)			
XS	0.10			
	(3.42)			
tsxs	-0.30			
	(-5.98)			
kof	-0.06			
	(-2.63)			
scruggs	-0.03			
	(-1.07)			
political	-0.09			
	(-4.46)			
beckkatz	0.07			
	(2.39)			
socxpart	0.03			
	(1.60)			
Constant	12.24			
	(2.38)			
Observations	414			
R-squared	0.39			
N	414			
r2_a	0.367			
rmse	0.123			

Tale A-2: OLS	multiple regression
	(1)

Table A-3:	Vif values	of model 1.
------------	------------	-------------

Variable	VIF	1/VIF
latam	4.37	0.228931
left	3.92	0.254826
yrpublished	3.31	0.302559
socsecgdp	3.03	0.329797
beckkatz	3.00	0.332998
noyears	2.90	0.344753
kof	2.57	0.388478
oecd	2.48	0.403859
political	1.95	0.513506
globindcator	1.94	0.514988
nocountries	1.92	0.520358
socxpart	1.75	0.570799
XS	1.75	0.572731
scruggs	1.68	0.595304
sePartiall	1.67	0.598340
tsxs	1.53	0.655354
Mean VIF	2.49	